
 
 
 

Pensions Committee 
 
Date: Monday, 21 November 2011 
Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Pat Phillips 
Tel: 0151 691 8488 
e-mail: patphillips@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have personal or 

prejudicial interests in connection with any item(s) on this agenda and, 
if so, to declare them and state what they are. 
 

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 19 September, 2011. 

 
3. INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING PARTY MINUTES 12 

OCTOBER 2011 (Pages 9 - 12) 
 
4. LGPS UPDATE (Pages 13 - 48) 
 
5. SECURITIES LENDING (Pages 49 - 60) 
 
6. INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING PARTY OPERATION 

(Pages 61 - 64) 
 
7. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE REPORT (Pages 65 - 94) 
 
8. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 

PUBLIC  
 

Public Document Pack



 The following items contain exempt information. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion. 
 
 

9. IMWP MINUTES APPENDIX (Pages 95 - 98) 
 
10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  
 
 
 



�����������		�

���
�

��������	
������������		�
�

��������� ����������� ������������� �
�
� ������������ ��!�"����

��!��#����
��$������
%&'�(�����
%���)�������*���
�������(������ �
%�+��#����������
*���������,���
$����� �

%'���-�������
����"����
$�������
�

� ������������ .�/������/��0�������������
!���1"������*������������
����������������.��!����������������
&������� �
�

1�������������� ���������0���
2.1�3.�

�������##�����
2.1�3.�
�

%���#���� ������������ (�$������
-���������
,�$������
��(�������
�

4	� 	�	�������������������
����������
����������
����
��
�
�������� 0���� ��)��� ��� ��������� 0������� ����� ���� ���� �������� ��� ��5��������
������������������������0�������������� ���������#�����������*������������������������
������������������*�������������6�
�
���������������#��!�"����������������������� ��������� ��� 1����	7���� �����#����� 8�
%�����������������.��9:���*��� ����"�������*�����#�����"�������*��0��%��������6�
�
�����������!���1"���������������������� ��������� ��� 1����	;���� �����#�����<,������
���0���������.��9=���*��� ����"�������*�����#�����������*���*�����������6�
�
�����������%����+��#������������������������� ��������� ��� 1����	7���� �����#�����<�
%�����������������.��9:���*��� ����"�������*�����#�����"������������%�����������
����� �� �������� ��������� ��� #������� ��� "������ �*� ���� 0�*�� ����#� �� ������� �*� ����
��������>���6�
�
����������� .� /����� ��������� �� �������� ��������� ��� 1���� 	:� ��� ���� �#����� <�
%���������+����%���������<����)�,�����#���������.��9;���*��� ����"�������*�����#�
����������*�/��0������������6�
�

4�� 	���
����
�

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



,��� !�������� �*� -�0�� $'� ���� %����� ����#������ ���������� ���� �������� �*� ����
������#����������;�(�������		6�
�
�����������
���������� !����"��#�$�����%�
�

44� �������������������
�
,����������#��������"���������������*���������6�
�

49� ������
��&'('�((��
�
%��������*�����!���������*�>������������������������0���������������������������*�
%�������� �*�������������������� >���� ��	�?��		� ����5���� ��� ����������#�������� �
���� ��������� ��� ���� !��*�� %������ ��"�������� '����� �%�' � *���� %�����
����������6� ���������0������)��� ������"�� �����������������������*�%��������
*��� ��	�?��		� ���� ��������� ���� ����������� ��� ���� ���*�� ��������� ���� ���� ���*��
%��������"��������'����� ���� ����-������ �*�'������������6� ���������0���������
��@�����������#��������%�����������0����������%��������"��������'���������0����
��*������ �*� ��#����� 0���� ���� �������������6� %�� ���� �������� >���� �����"��� ��
��������%�'�����0�������������������������0�����*�����������������������������������
��������������������������%���������'��)�����#���������������6�
�
�����������
����
�
(%� ������ ��� �������������))#���� �����!������������� ���*��$$�! ���

*�#�&'('+&'((,�� ������-��� �*!���$� ����#���� ����������� ��� ������
���� �#�*�� �$$�! ��� � �� ���� �#�*�� �  !���.���# � $����)�#�� � �� ����
�����#��*���)#��� ����� %�

&%� �����$��� ���� �/���� ������  !���.���# � $����)�#��"���-#���,�� ��
����� ���� �� ��� �� ���������� "�� � *�#���� �*� )#�-#���� /���� ����
��)���� ����� %�

0%� ���� #�$���� ����� ��"�� #�*�##��� ��� �����!����� �����1�	� �-��� ��
���������%�

�
47� ����
���		��������������.�2�������������
��

�
,��� !�������� %�������� #�"�� �� ������������ ��� ���� %������ ��"�������� '�����
����������#� ���� *�����#���*� ������	�?��		��������*��������������������>���6�����
��������������������@��������6�
�
�����������
��������#�)�#��"��$� ����#���� �� ����%�
�

4:� 	�	�����
������.���3��
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��*������ �������� �*� ���� �������#� ���� ��� ���
3���������		��������"��������������*�������		�A>�����������B��������#���#�����6�
�
�����������
����
�
(%� 	��"�#������ �������#�� � -���4�� �&'��$��"�#�&'((%�
�

Page 2



&%� 	��"�#�� ���*4�������#�$��#��*��� � $���*����4�/����������� ��� 4��*�����
5�! ���� ����6���4�%�

�
4;� �����������������������	��
7��

�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ������������ ���� ���������� ��� ���"��
�������������������������������-�����%�����������������>����>������-%�>> �%������
���*����������#�����������1'�����������������+�����������*����4��.�"�����������
!����������		6�
�
��������� �� 
���� ���� �� $�� ��� ���� ������ $� *�#� $�� "4� ���� ����#� "��

�))#����%�
�

4=� �.�������
���
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ������� �������� ��� ��#������"�� ���� ������
��"����������**�����#�����-�������"����������������������6�
�
�����������
��������#�)�#��"�� ����%�
�

4
� ��������	���3����������������
�
%� ������ �*� ����!���������*�>������� ��*���������������*� ���������#������� *��� ����
�������&�������B����*���������������������,��������	;�.�"��������		����%�������
'���������6�
�
�����������
����	��"�#������ �������  !�����)��4�#���� *�#� $�%�
�
�
�
�
�

9�� ���8������
7�����
7���������.��
�������
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ���� ���� ������� ����#��� ��� �����������
��#��������� ��� ����������� �������� >����� *����0��#� ���� ���������� �*� ����
������������#6�
�
,�������������������������**��������@����������*�����**�����������������������*����������
��������#��������)�������������������"�����������������������#��������0�����������
#������#��*��0����*����������0�������������6��
�
,����������������*��������������������������������#�����#��������������#���������*���
��������������������������������������**�����������������������!���������*�>������6�
,����������"�����������������#������������������)��#���������#����������>�������
��"���������������������*������������"�������"���������*����"�������5�����������6�
�
�����������
����
�
(%� ���� *����/� -� �**�$�#�� "�� �!���#����� ��� �)� ,� $����� � �� ��� �� "� 1�

�$$�! ��,� �!���#���� � ��#!$��� �� *�#� ���� )�4�� �� �*� "� �*���� � �� *�#�
� ������ ���#� ��$��� �,�*�#������$$�! ���/��������"� 1�#��9��4����� 1�

Page 3



�*� �$���� �:,� /���� ���� .��"��� �!������ � 9������ ��#���:,� � ��/���� ����#�
*� � $����� ����!��� ��*�#�����)!#)�����*���1� -�� ��#������ -���)�����,�
;�)� <�$��=!��,�� ��$�! ��#���- �$��=!������#�>(','''?��

�
� !���������*�>�������� 1���&6���������
� !�����!���������*�>�������� !�"���-6$6�,�����8������
� $�����*�>������������"������ ,�������6�������
� $�����*�+���*�����'�"������
� ����������������"������ ��������(6�>����#���
� $�����*�1,����"������ ���**�����6����������
� $�����*����������"������ ��������(6�>�0����
� ������������������3**����� C"������6�������)�
� �����������"���������#���� ���#�������'���)��
� �����������"���������#��� ������(6�'�������
� 3�������������#��� �����6�$������
� �����%���������� !������6�������
�
&%� 	��"�#�� $� *�#�� ����� ���� *����/� -� �**�$�#�� ����� )�/�#�� ��� �!���#����

� ������ ����$���� ��� ��#����� ����$!�� ����� ,�"!�� �������!���#����
�����#� �*�#��*��� �4?�

� �
� $�����*���������>���� ������(6���������
� �������1�"������������#��� -�������/6�3�����
� 1�"������������#��� ������)��6�!�0�����
�
0%� 	��"�#��  ���� ����,� *�#� ���� )!#)����� �*� �!�� ����-� $�� ��#�*�$���� ,�

���#�$1� .%� ��/����,� � ������ �� 	� �-�#,� ��� ����- ����� � � �!���#�����
�**�$�#%��

�
@%� 	��"�#�� $� *�#�,� *�#� ���� ������ $�� �*� ��!"�,� ����� ���� ��#�$��#� �*�

�� � $��$� �����- �����**�$�#���*�	�������A�#$����)�/�#���*�����# �4�� �
"����*� �*� 	��� � �� B�##��� 	��#�)����� � ��#�!-�� ��! $��,� /��$�,� *#���
(C!�4�&'((,�#�=!�#����/���*�����*����/� -��**�$�#�?��

�
� $�����*���������>���� ������(6���������
� �������1�"������������#��� -�������/6�3�����
� ������������������3**����� C"������6�������)�
� 1�"������������#��� ������)��6�!�0�����
�

9	� ����
�������������
��
�
%��������*�����!���������*�>���������"�������������0��������!��*��%������'������*�
�������������������>����*�����	�?		6�,���������0������)������������������������
������������������*�%��������*�����	�?		���������#����6�
�
%������*�����%������'�����0���������"��������*������������������������#6�
�
��������� �� 
���� ���� �#�*�� �  !��� ��)�#�� �*� 	�#��4����� �� ��� � �! �� "��
�))#�����*�#�)!"��$���� %�
�

9�� �����������������������B������
�

Page 4



%���������*��������������������������������������>������������������� ����������
���*��������� ��������� ��� ���� �������� ������� �*� ���� C���� ��"��� D�67�� � ����#����
���� ��)��� �������� ��� ����� ���� ����������� ��� ���� �0����� ��� ���� ������ �*� ����
���������6�
�
�����������
�����
�

(%� �������#������� -��*�	�#��4������� ��� ��! ��� ������#����#��$�����
�*�����3��#�9���#�>&%D" :�$���-�#4�"�� ������

&%� ���� �� $����������/�#���$�#��� 4�"4���������#�"�� ����%�
�

94� 
���.�
���E������7�����.����
���.������������B�����
�
%��������*�����!���������*�>���������"������������������,���#�����@����������#�
�������������*����������*������������������������>��������������*���������������
������*����*�����E������%��F���"����������0���6�
�
�����������
����
�
(%� ����� ��#� �� �����/�#��� �#��)�$���*�
! �-�����=!�#��"�� ����%�
&%� ���� �� $���������.#�� ��))����/�#���"4���������#�"���))#�����%�
�
�

99� �������
��.�2������������2�
��.��
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��"����� �������� �*� ���� �������� �*� ����
����������� ������� ��� ������ �� ��"����� �*� ��������� #�"�������� ��������� ����
��G��"����#����"����������������������*�����������������������%����G6�
�
,��������G���������������������������*������������"��������'���������������G��
H����#� ���"���� ���"���� � ���������� �G���� ��*��������6� � ,���� 0��� ��� "������ �*�
���#���� 4� �*� ����� 	� �*� ��������� 	�%� �*� ���� -����� ��"�������� %��� 	
;��� �6�6�
��*��������� �������#� ��� ���� *��������� ��� ��������� �**����� �*� ���� ���������� ������
���������#���������������������#��������*�������� 6�
�
�����������
�����
�
(%� �����!�$�����*�����)#�$!#��� ��)#�$����"�� ����%�
&%� ���� *�#�� #�$���� ���� � � ���� �A��)�� �))� ��A� ��� ���� #�)�#�� "��

�))�� ���%�
�

97� ��
�������	��
��
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��*������ �������� �*� �������#� 0��)�����
������� ��*�����0����� �������������0���������������������� �������������������
0���� ����<��������� ����� �� @����*���#� ������� ������6� � ,��� ��)���� ������ ���
�������������������>����������������������#����������0�����#���#�����0������#����
���������������������������������������������B����������������6�
�
�����������
��������#�)�#��"�� ����%�
�

9:� �����	�����

Page 5



�
%��������*�����!���������*�>���������*���������������*�������������������������������
������� �*� ������� &��������� ��������#� *���� ������ ���������� �������� �������#� ���
���"�������%������������������������%���������%�����	�6�
�
�����������
����
�
(%� ���� ��)��$���� �� *�#�	��� � � ��#��� �*� ��-��#� /�#1������ � �� ������� ���

$�����"�� ����%�
�
&%� ��#�)�#��"��)#��� �������������)��4�� ��� ���))�� ��� �������������

� ������������ ������**� -�#�=!�#��� ����#��� -�*#��������#�)�#�%�
�

9;� ��	����������3��������
������	��8�
�����.��
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��*������ �������� �*� �� ��������� ��)��� ������
����#�������������"���������������������"���*�������)�,�����#��$���������) ����
����������� �������� >���� ��� �� ,����*����� %��������� +���6� ,��� ������� ����
�������� ���� ��������� �*� +�0���#� ���*� ������� ���������� ����������� ��� /��0�����
+����#�����������*�������������	������������		����4	�%�#������4	6�
�
��������� �� 
���� ���� �))#����� �*� ���� �))��$���� � *�#� �������� � ��� ����
	�#��4������� ��� ��! ���*�	�$1�
#��� -�"�� ����%�
�

9=� 
�3�����7�B��������
��
�
%� ������ �*� ����!�������� �*� >������� ��*�������������� �*� ���� ��������� ��)��� ������
����#������� ��� ���"�� ���� ���������� �����"��� *���� ,������ ���0� ��� �����������
�������� >���� ��� �� ,����*����� %��������� +���6� ,��� ������� ���� �������� ����
�������#�����������������#����������������������*������������ *��� ����������	�%����
���
����4	���������	46�
�
,���!���������*�>��������������������������G��������������������6�
�
������������
�

�����))#������*������))��$���� �*�#��������� ��������	�#��4������� ��� ��! ��
�*�
�4��#����/����! ��#��1������$���#� -�$� �#�$�����.#� -���#���#4��$�����"��
 ����%�
�

9
� �	B��	���
����
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��"����� �������� 0���� ���� �������� �*� ����
1�"�����������������#����)��#���������������:�������������		6�
�
%����G� �� ��� ���� ������� �,��� �������� �*� ���� 1���� ��� :� ���������� ��		 ��
���������� �G���� ��*��������6� � ,���� 0��� ��� "������ �*� ���#���� 4� �*� ����� 	� �*�
��������� 	�%� �*� ���� -����� ��"�������� %��� 	
;��� �6�6� 1�*��������� �������#� ��� ����
*����������������������**������*������������������������������#� ��������������������#�
�������*�������� 6�
�

Page 6



�����������
���������� !�����*������	B������� -������� �F���)���"�#,�&'((�
"���))#����%�
�

7�� .�2��������G����8�B��8��.����
3�	���
����������
��
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��"����� �������� 0���� ���� �������� �*� ����
��"��������I�'��)����)��#���������'�� ���������	9�(������		6�
�
,������������*������'������	9�(������		�������������G������*��������6�,����������
"������ �*� ���#����� � 4� �*� ����� 	� �*� ��������� 	�%� �*� ���� -����� ��"�������� %���
	
;��� �6�6� 1�*��������� �������#� ��� ���� *��������� ��� ��������� �**����� �*� ���� ����������
���������������#���������������������#��������*�������� 6�
�
�����������
���������� !�����*�����.���# � $��G����1�B�#1� -���#�4�9.�B�:�
����� -�� �(@�C!�4�&'((�/��$��/�#������$�������� ��A��)���))� ��A�� � ����
�-� ���"���))#����%�
�

7	� ��3� �
7��� ��.��
� ��������� �����2��� �3� 
7�� �7���� 9���
� (:� ��
��	����������3��������
�������.����3���
�
%� ������ �*� ����!�������� �*� >������� ��*�������������� �*� ���� ��������� ��)��� ������
����#������� ��� ���"�� ���� ���������� �����"��� *���� %#������� *��� ���������� ���
����������� �������� >���� ��� �� ,����*����� %��������� +���6� ,��� ������� ����
�����������������B�1�,6����������*�������������	�%�#������		����4	�(������	
�0����
��6�$�������������6�
�
��������� �� 
���� ���� �))#����� �*� ���� �))��$���� � *�#� �������� � ��� ����
	�#��4������� ��� ��! ���*��-����4��"�� ����%�
�
�

7�� �H�	�
������	�
�������H�����������	�	��������
7����������
�
�����������
���,�! ��#���$��� �(''�9�:�9@:��*�������$���.���# �� ���$��(IJ&,�
����)!"��$�"���A$�!����*#������������ -��!#� -�$� ����#���� ��*�����*����/� -�
������ �*� "!�� ���� � � ���� -#�! ��� ����� ���4� � ������ ���� ��1��4� ���$���!#�� �*�
�A��)��� *�#����� ������*� ���"4�����#����� ��)�#�-#�)���*���#�(��*��$���!���
(&�� 9������ ���:� ��� ������$�%� �
����!"��$� � ��#���� ���������"�� ��))������ ��
*���!#���A$�!��� %�
�
�
�

74� ��������2��3�����2����3	��
���
�
%� ������ �*� ���� !�������� �*� >������� ��@������� ���"��� ��� 0����� �**� �� ������ ���� �*�
D9�7��6�9�����������#� ��� ��������*��"�����������*�������� �������"�������������
0�����0������0������������������"������6�
�
!��������*���������"������������0���������������������������������������������������6�
�
�����������
���� ���� �!���*� >@,D&'%'@� � � #��)�$�� �*� )� ��� ����#)�4�� ��"��
�))#�����*�#�/#�����**%�
�

Page 7



�

Page 8



 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2011 

SUBJECT: INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING 

PARTY MINUTES 12 OCTOBER 2011  

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

KEY DECISION NO 
  
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the minutes of the 
Investment Monitoring Working Party (IMWP) held on 12 October 2011. 

 
1.2 Appendix 2 to the report, the minutes of the IWMP on 12 October 2011, 

contains exempt information. This is by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, i.e. Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information). 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That Members approve the minutes of the IMWP meeting which are attached 
as an appendix to this report. 

 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 The approval of IMWP minutes by the Pensions Committee forms part of the 
governance arrangements of Merseyside Pension Fund. These arrangements 
were approved by the Pensions Committee as part of the Statement of 
Investment Principles at its meeting on 16 November 2010. 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

4.1 The relevant extracts from the Statement of Investment Principles for the role of 
the IMWP and Pensions Committee are set out below. 

 
• Wirral Council is the Administering Authority with overall responsibility for 

Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF), which it delegates to its Pensions 
Committee. This body comprises 10 Wirral Councillors, with representation 
from other principal employers (5) and Trade Unions (3), representing 
beneficiaries’ interests. There is also an Investment Monitoring Working Party 
(IMWP) to which all members of the Pensions Committee and Trade Unions 
are invited; the IMWP meets six times a year. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



 
 

• The terms of reference for the Committee, IMWP and the Director of Finance 
are set out in the scheme of delegation for Wirral Council; the structural and 
operational details of the delegation are set out in a Governance Policy 
Statement for Merseyside Pension Fund, which can be viewed at: 
http://mpfmembers.org.uk/pdf/gov_policy.pdf. 

 
• The Pensions Committee takes strategic decisions on asset allocation, 

investment manager selection and other high-level investment policy matters 
and delegates tactical asset allocation and investment monitoring through the 
IMWP. The IMWP is a deliberative body, acting as a forum where investment 
issues can be discussed in depth, with the power to make recommendations 
to Committee. The Director of Finance of Wirral Council (Section 151 Officer) 
is delegated to implement Committee policy and manage MPF, leading a well 
qualified and experienced internal team. 

 
• The Committee receives what it considers to be proper advice from officers 

and, in addition, has appointed an external consultant to provide advice on its 
high-level investment strategy. The Committee has also appointed an 
independent adviser to the IMWP, to further inform and support decision-
making across the breadth of issues that are considered by the IMWP. 

 
4.2 The key items arising from the IMWP minutes are. 
 
 The noting of presentations from M&G, Schroders and Legal & General . 
 
5.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

5.1 Not relevant for this report. 
 

6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

6.1 Not relevant for this report. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 Not relevant for this report 
 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 

Page 10



 
 
11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality? 

 
 (b) No because there is no relevance to equality. 
 
12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 
issues arising from this report. 

 
13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report. 
 
 
FNCE/254/11 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Paddy Dowdall 
  Investment Manager 
  telephone:  0151 2421310 
  paddydowdall@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
APPENDICES 

The attendance at the meeting is attached as appendix one to this report The 
detailed minutes are an exempt appendix two. 

 
 
REFERENCE MATERIAL 

No reference material used in the production of this report. 

 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Pensions Committee :  

Statement of Investment Principles  

The IMWP minutes are reported to the subsequent 

Pensions Committee Meeting. 

16 November 2010 

 

Page 11



 
Appendix 1  

 

Minutes of the meeting of the Investment Monitoring Working Party, 

12 October 2011 
 
In attendance: 
 
(Chair) Councillor Geoffrey C.J. Watt 
(WBC) 
 

David Taylor-Smith (Deputy Director of 
Finance) 

Councillor George Davies (WBC) Peter Wallach (Head of MPF) 
Councillor Mike Hornby (WBC) Paddy Dowdall (Investment Manager) 
Paul Wiggins (Unison) Owen Thorne (Investment Officer) 
Greg Campbell (Investment Manager) Donna Smith (Group Accountant) 
Allister Goulding (Investment Manager) Noel Mills (Investment Advisor) 
Adil Manzoor (Accountant Assistant) Emma Jones (PA to Head of MPF) 
 
Apologies were received from: 
 
Councillor Harry Smith (WBC) Councillor Ann McLachlan (WBC) 
Councillor Norman Keats (Knowsley BC) Councillor Tom Harney (WBC) 
Councillor Joe Hanson (Liverpool CC) Ian Coleman (WBC) 
 
1. Minutes of the previous IMWP meeting 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2011 had been accepted by 
Pensions Committee on 19 September 2011. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Geoffrey Watt (GW) asked if anyone had any 
Declaration of Interest.  There were none to record. 

 
 

Page 12



 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2011 

SUBJECT: LGPS UPDATE 

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 

HOLDER:  

 

KEY DECISION  NO 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. This report informs Members of a consultation published on 7 October 2011 
by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
proposing options to change the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) in order to deliver £900m savings by April 2015 .A copy of the 
consultation document is attached at Appendix 1. The closing date for 
responses is 6 January 2012. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Members note the report. 
 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 There is a requirement for Members of the Pensions Committee to be kept 

up to date with legislative developments to carry out their decision making 
role in order to enable them to make informed decisions. 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

4.1 Members previously considered the expected timeframe and parameters for 
implementation of short term reform on 19 September 2011 (Minute 38 
refers). 

 
4.2 The consultation focuses on the HM Treasury previously identified need for 

the LGPS to deliver savings of £900m over a three year period.  
Commencing from April 2012, the measures will be completed in time for 
the introduction of a reformed LGPS as recommended by Lord Hutton of 
Furness. 

 
4.3 The priority for reform is to protect the high proportion of low paid part-time 

members, ensuring contribution increases are progressive so that high 
earners pay proportionally more, reflecting their more generous pensions at 
retirement. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 13



 

 
4.4 The Government acknowledges that unlike the unfunded public sector 

schemes there is scope to consider alternative measures of securing the 
required savings, rather than merely increasing employee contribution 
tariffs. 

 
4.5 Any alternative measure must still maintain the previously identified 

protections for the lowest paid: 
 

• No increase to member contributions for those earning less than £15,000; 
• An increase limited to 1.5% of pay for those earning up to £21,000; 
• Increases for high earners no more than 6% of gross pay. 

 
4.6 Two distinct options have been put forward for consideration by DCLG:   
 

Option 1 
• An increase in the employees’ contribution tariff from April 2012 of 

1.5 per cent of pensionable pay to raise £450m 
 
• Changes to the accrual rate from 60th to 64th  in 2013/14 and to 65th 

in 2014/15 to raise an additional £450m 
 

Option 2 
• An increase in the employees’ contribution tariff from April 2012 of 1 

per cent of pensionable pay to raise £300m 
 

• Changes to the accrual rate from 60th to 67th  in 2014/15 to raise an 
additional £600m  

 

4.7 In support of the two options, DCLG has issued proposed amendments to 
the existing tiered member contribution rates. In addition to increasing the 
rates DCLG has also introduced a further four salary bands above £43,300 
per annum. 
 
Option 1 

 Proposed phased contribution increases equivalent to 1.5 per cent of the 
total LGPS national payroll 

 
Salary Band  Current  2012/13  2013/14  2014/15  

£0 - £12,900  5.5%  5.5%  5.5%  5.5%  
£12,901- £15,100  5.8%  5.8% 5.8%  5.8%  
£15,101- £19,400  5.9%  5.9%  6.0% 6.0%       (0.1%)  
£19,401- £21,000  6.5%  6.7%  7.2%  7.7%       (1.2%)  
£21,001- £32,400  6.5%  7.2%  8.0%  8.3%       (1.8%)  
£32,401- £43,300  6.8%  7.5%  8.3%  8.7%       (1.9%)  
£43,301- £60,000  7.2%  8.2% 8.7%  9.0%       (1.8%)  
£60,001- £81,100  7.2%  8.7% 9.2%  10.0%     (2.8%)  
£81,101- £100,000  7.5%  9.0% 9.8%  11.0%     (3.5%)  
£100,001- £150,000  7.5%  9.5% 11.0%  12.0%     (4.5%)  
£150,001 +  7.5%  10.0%  12.0%  12.5%     (5.0%)  

 

Page 14



 

 
Option 2  
Proposed phased contribution increases equivalent to 1 per cent of the total 
LGPS national payroll 

 
Salary Band Current  2012/13  2013/14  2014/15  

£0 - £12,900  5.5%  5.5%  5.5% 5.5%  
£12,901- £15,100 5.8%  5.8%   5.8% 5.8%  
£15,101- £19,400 5.9%  5.9%  6.0% 6.0%       (0.1%)  
£19,401- £21,000 6.5%  6.5%  6.8% 6.8%       (0.3%)  
£21,001- £32,400 6.5%  6.8%  7.2% 7.5%       (1.0%)  
£32,401- £43,300 6.8%  7.1%  7.8% 8.2%       (1.4%)  
£43,301- £60,000 7.2%  7.8%  8.4% 8.8%       (1.6%)  
£60,001- £81,100 7.2%  8.7%  8.8% 9.5%       (2.3%)  
£81,101- £100,000  7.5%  9.0%  9.8% 10.5%     (3.0%)  
£100,001- £150,000 7.5%  9.3%  10.8% 11.5%     (4.0%)  
£150,001 +  7.5%  9.5%  11.8% 12.5%     (5.0%)  

 
4.8 The proposed contribution increases have been calculated by the 

Government Actuary Department (GAD) based on national salary data.  
This compares to MPF as below: 

 
Salary Band % of membership 

 National Average MPF  

£0 - £12,900  8.67% 16.54% 
£12,901- £15,100 10.61% 11.60% 
£15,101- £19,400 25.20% 21.49% 
£19,401- £21,000 7.47% 6.11% 
£21,001- £32,400 31.34% 31.81% 
£32,401- £43,300 11.16% 8.77% 
£43,301- £60,000 4.18% 2.69% 
£60,001- £81,100 0.91% 0.64% 
£81,101- £100,000  0.25% 0.16% 
£100,001- £150,000 0.16% 0.15% 
£150,001 +  0.05% 0.04% 

 
 
4.9 The consultation paper does indicate a third proposal, suggesting that the 

LGPS normal retirement age is aligned with the national State Pension 
Age. The DCLG indicates that this would deliver annual savings in the 
region of £330m. 

 
4.10  As previously reported the Local Government Group (LGG) has been in 

ongoing discussions with the trade unions.   However, it has not, so far, 
been possible to reach agreement on a joint proposal. Therefore LGG 
wrote to the Secretary of State on 21 September 2011 (copy letter 
attached at Appendix 2) setting out proposals to achieve the equivalent 
3.2 per cent savings. 

Page 15



 

 
4.11 The key elements of the LGG proposal are: 
 

• no increase in employee contributions for staff with full-time 
equivalent earnings of less than £15,000, a moderate increase for 
those earning between £15,000 and £21,000 of 1.5 per cent and an 
increase of between 2 per cent and 2.5 per cent for those earning 
over £21,000  

 
• choice for employees, by giving those with full-time equivalent 

earnings of £15,000 or more who feel they cannot afford an increase 
in contributions the option of taking a reduced pension accrual rate 
instead for future service from April 2014. Any employees with full-
time equivalent earnings of less than £15,000 who may be finding it 
difficult to meet the current level of contribution would have the option 
of taking a reduction in their contribution rate but would, as a result, 
have a reduced pension accrual rate for future service from April 
2014  

 
• raising the normal pension age from 65 to 66 for benefits built up 

from April 2014. Benefits built up prior to then would retain a normal 
pension age of 65  

 
4.12 MPF has previously consulted with the membership, most recently in 

response to the interim Hutton report in 2010.  The responses received as 
part of that consultation support the continued view that the membership 
would support an alignment of Normal Retirement Age with State Pension 
Age, rather than a reduction in the LGPS accrual rate. 

 
4.13 MPF will be consulting again with the membership before responding 

formally to the consultation in January 2012. The response will take 
account of all available information and the considered opinion of the 
membership. 

 
4.14   As the consultation paper does indicate a third proposal, suggesting that 

the LGPS normal retirement age is aligned with the national State Pension 
Age.  MPF will present this to the membership as part of the consultation. 

 
4.15 The DCLG indicates that aligning normal retirement age would deliver 

annual savings in the region of £330m.  If this approach was adopted from 
April 2012 it would deliver all of the required savings in the three year 
timeframe.  

 
4.16 However, if there continues to be a political imperative to increase 

member contributions then a phased uniform 1 per cent increase above 
salary of £15,000 would be more acceptable and reduce the likelihood of 
opt-outs.  In this scenario, the change to normal retirement age for service 
would only need to come into operation for two years from April 2013, in 
order to meet all Government objectives. 

Page 16



 

 
4.17  Members could still choose to retire from age 60 but would receive 

reduced pensions to take account of early payments. The demographics 
of the LGPS mean that 50% of membership receive low pay and may not 
be in a position to retire from employment before state pension age. 

 
4.18 HM Treasury has set the cost ceilings for the public sector schemes from 

April 2015. These are based on the adoption of the Hutton 
recommendation of a Career Average Pension Scheme: 

• NHS scheme should cost no more than 20.2% of salaries, with staff 
paying 9.5% 

• Civil service scheme should cost no more than 20.8% of salaries, 
with staff paying 5.6%.  

• Teachers' scheme should cost no more than 20.1% of salaries, with 
staff paying 9.6% 

• Local Government scheme should cost no more than 18.8% of 
salaries, with employees paying 8% 

4.19 Unfortunately, the Treasury announcement does not take into 
consideration the funded nature of the LGPS. The actual cost ceiling for 
the LGPS from April 2015 is dependant on the outcome of the current 
statutory consultation.  

 
4.20 The additional income saved from the scheme amendments will help to re-

balance the costs of pension provision between scheme members, 
employers and tax payers.  

 
4.21 This saving will be reflected in reductions to employer contributions as part 

of the statutory triennial valuation process. The current regulations do not 
allow a downward revision of employer contribution rates between inter-
valuation and appropriate amendments are required to enact any certified 
adjustment. 

 
5.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

5.1 If the outcome of the short term scheme reforms proves to be too costly for 
the individual members it will rapidly increase the number of members who 
will choose to opt out of the Scheme, as it will be reasoned as 
“unaffordable” or at worst, not worthwhile.  

 

5.2 The LGG proposal to offer individuals an option with regard to either an 
increase in contributions or reduction in accrual will lead to unnecessary 
complexity for members, employers and the effective administration of the 
Scheme.  The survival of the LGPS requires simplicity and transparency to 
reduce the risk of confusion to members, increasing opts out and poor take 
up. 

 
5.3 Employer costs would increase in any significant reduction of active 

membership due to the associated adverse impacts on Scheme maturity 
and funding. 

 

Page 17



 

6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

6.1 Some administering authorities are considering an early response to the 
consultation, proposing that the LGPS should accelerate the adoption of a 
Career Average benefit package in advance of April 2015. 

 
6.2  Such major reform is likely to prove impracticable within the required 

timeframe for short-term savings.   
 
7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 MPF is planning to consult with members as to their preferred option to 
deliver the required savings.  This will be done by newsletter, website and 
an online survey. 

 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

8.1 MPF has forwarded the consultation document to all Scheme Employers 
who represent all sectors of the community. 

 
8.2 MPF will keep all Scheme Employers informed of responses to the 

consultation. 
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

9.1 The outcome of the Government response to consultation with stakeholders 
on the short term reform of the Pension Scheme including increases in 
employee contribution rates may have significant impacts on the Scheme, 
employers and members. 

 
9.2 Depending on the outcome of the reforms there will be increases in the 

resources required to deliver the relevant communications, administrative 
processes and changes to systems.  
  

9.3 In light of the corrosive publicity surrounding scheme reform it is necessary 
to conduct a significant communication exercise to promote the scheme as 
an excellent tax efficient, secure, and valuable source of deferred income to 
which employers contribute a substantial share of the cost.  

 
10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 None arising from this report. 
 
11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 The consultation document relates to statutory policy with due consideration 
already addressed by the DCLG with regard to equality.   

 
12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 None arising from this report. 
 
13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 None arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 18



 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: YVONNE CADDOCK 

 PRINCIPAL PENSION OFFICER 
  telephone:  0151 – 242-1333   3056 
  email:   yvonnecaddock@wirral.gov.uk 
 

 APPENDICES 

1 Department for Communities and Local Government Consultation document 
dated 7 October 2011 

 
2 Local Government Group letter of 21 September 2011 to the Secretary of 

State 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

LGPS Update Reports presented to each meeting 

of the Pensions Committee 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



TBJ Crossley 
Deputy Director 
Workforce, Pay and Pensions 
Zone 5/F5 Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London SW1E 5DU 

Telephone: 0303 44 42168 

Website: www.communities.gov.uk

7 October 2011 

To Local Government Pension 
Scheme interests in England 
and Wales (see list below) 

Dear Colleagues,  

Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Contributions and 
Membership) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/1166) (as amended) 

Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 
2008 (SI 2008/239) (as amended) 

Consultation on proposed increases to employee contribution rates 
and changes to scheme accrual rates, effective from 1 April 2012 in 
England and Wales

Introduction

1.1 With ministers’ agreement, this consultation paper sets out the 
Government’s draft proposals to achieve short term savings of £900m within 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’) by 2014-15, equivalent to 
the 3.2 percentage point contribution increases in the unfunded public 
service pension schemes.

1.2 This consultation exercise marks the start of the formal statutory consultation 
process for proposed amendments to the LGPS Regulations (mentioned 
above), as required by section 7(5) of the Superannuation Act 1972. 

1.3 Your comments are now invited on the proposed amendments, described in 
paragraphs 4.1 to 4.5 and Annex A, and should be sent preferably by email 
to Richard.mcdonagh@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Alternatively, postal responses may be sent to: 

 The LGPS Pension Team 
 5/G6, 
 Department for Communities and Local Government  
 Eland House, 
 Bressenden Place 
 London    SW1E 5DU 

1.4 The closing date for responses is 6 January 2012.

Page 21



1.5 The intention is that the proposed amendments to the scheme’s regulatory 
framework will take effect from 1 April 2012, subject to the outcome of this 
consultation exercise. 

1.6 Consultees are reminded that the proposed amendments, and any others 
brought forward, will continue to be discussed at forthcoming meetings of the 
Policy Review Group, and at other meetings being arranged by the 
Department with LGPS business partners within the statutory consultation 
period.

1.7 The details of the possible amendments to the existing LGPS regulatory 
framework are explained in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.8.

Policy context 

2.1 In June 2010 the Government commissioned former Work and Pensions 
Secretary, Lord Hutton, to chair the Independent Public Service Pensions 
Commission’s review into the long term future of public service pensions. In 
his final report Lord Hutton set out his recommendations on how these can 
be made sustainable and affordable in the long-term, whilst at the same time 
being fair to both public sector workers and the taxpayer.  Lord Hutton 
concluded that reform was needed. 

The Government accepted his recommendations as a basis for consultation 
with public sector workers, trade unions and other interested parties about 
the need for long term reform.  The Government intends to introduce 
changes from 2015 and has confirmed that all pension benefits earned up 
that point will be protected.  The reforms will ensure that all public service 
pensions, including the LGPS, will continue to be amongst the best pensions 
available.  Lord Hutton’s interim report is available via the HM Treasury 
website at: 
www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/indreview johnhutton pensions.htm

Delivery of short term savings

3.1 Before making his recommendations for wider reform, Lord Hutton published 
his interim report. This recommended that if the Government wished to make 
short term savings to meet current cost pressures, then raising contribution 
rates would be the most effective way to achieve that objective.   Lord 
Hutton’s interim report is available via the HM Treasury website at: 
www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/indreview johnhutton pensions.htm

3.2 Lord Hutton set out the following rationale for increasing member 
contributions to public service pension schemes: 

a. people are living much longer than previous generations – the average 
60 year old is living ten years longer now than they did in the 1970s. 
More of people’s lives are now being spent in retirement – between 40 
per cent to 45 per cent of adult life compared with around 30 per cent 
for pensioners in the 1950s

Page 22



b. as people are living longer in retirement, the cost of providing pensions 
is increasing; annual expenditure on public service pensions over the 
last decade has increased by a third to £32bn. And in the case of the 
LGPS, expenditure on benefits has increased from £1.8bn to £6bn 
since 1997

c. taxpayers can’t be expected to bear all the cost of increased longevity. 
There needs to be a fairer balance between what employees pay and 
what other taxpayers contribute towards a public service pension. 

3.3 At the Spending Review, the Chancellor acted upon the rationale Lord 
Hutton set out by announcing that employee contributions would be 
increased by an average of 3.2 percentage points in the unfunded public 
service pension schemes. This will make savings of £2.8bn a year by 2014-
15, to be phased in from April 2012.

3.4 The Chief Secretary to the Treasury’s statement to the House on 19 July 
2011 confirmed that the unfunded schemes would begin formal 
consultations on the proposed increases in employee contribution rates for 
2012-13. In recognition of the funded nature of the LGPS, the Government 
accepted that separate discussions should take place to see whether 
alternative ways to deliver some or all of the savings could be found. The 
equivalent savings in the LGPS are £900m in England and Wales. The Chief 
Secretary to the Treasury’s statement can be found at www.hm-
treasury.gov.uk/press 83 11.htm

3.5 On 20 July, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
wrote to Sir Merrick Cockell, Chair of the Local Government Group, inviting 
him to discuss with the local authority trades unions a package of measures 
to secure the required short-term savings of £900m by 2014-15. The Group 
was asked to report the outcome of its discussions to the Secretary of State 
by 9 September.

3.6 Neither the Local Government Group nor the local authority trades unions 
were in a position to submit proposals as requested by 9 September. 
Subsequently, on 21 September, the Local Government Group wrote to the 
Secretary of State with their proposals to achieve the savings requested 
These are summarised at paragraph 4.7 and a full copy attached at Annex B
and related costings are at Annex C.

3.7 The Local Government Group’s proposals can be considered fully within the 
statutory consultation framework.  If discussions between the Local 
Government Group and local authority trades unions continue, and any other 
proposals eventually come forward, either separately or jointly, these can 
also feed into the statutory consultation process alongside any other 
comments or proposals submitted by other consultees. The Scheme’s Policy 
Review Group provides an expert forum for analysis and discussion to take 
place. The Government would welcome this discussion continuing and will 
fully explore any new proposals that are put forward.

Page 23



Parameters for member contribution increases 

3.8 The Government believes that any proposed increases in contribution rates 
should protect low earners and be progressive, so that high earners pay 
proportionally higher increases to reflect their more generous pensions. The 
Government set out its preferred parameters for scheme design to achieve 
the required savings in the Chief Secretary’s Written Ministerial Statement of 
19 July.

3.9 These parameters, outlined below, are reflected in the tariffs being proposed 
in this consultation document.  All references are to full time equivalent 
salaries:

! there should be no increase in employee contributions for those 
earning less than £15,000 

! there should be no more than a 1.5 percentage point increase in total 
by 2014-15 for those earning up to £21,000. This amounts to a 0.6 
percentage point increase in 2012-13 on a pro-rata basis; and 

! high earners in the LGPS should pay progressively more than those in 
lower salary bands more, but no more than 6 percentage points (before 
tax relief) more  

 Proposals for the Local Government Pension Scheme

4.1 For the LGPS in England and Wales, ministers believe there is an 
opportunity to consider a broad range of measures to secure appropriate 
levels of savings for scheme employers. This should enable the 
Government’s priorities in implementing the £900m savings package to be 
met; protecting the high proportion of low paid, part-time members of the 
Scheme; and ensuring contribution increases are progressive.  

4.3 Option 1 - The following approach fully meets the Government’s priorities. 
This is the option on the basis of which we have set the cost ceiling1 for 
wider reform of the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

Option 1 - This proposal to achieve the required £900m savings by 2014-15 (3 per 
cent of forecast pensionable paybill) comprises of two separate elements: 

i) An increase in the employees’ contribution tariff from April 2012, to raise 
an additional £450m (1.5 per cent of pensionable paybill), and 

ii) A change in the scheme’s accrual rate from April 2013, to raise an 
additional £450m (1.5 per cent of pensionable paybill)  

A more detailed analysis is shown at Annex A 

                                           
1 The cost ceilings was set with reference to the scheme specific contribution rates required to 
provide the benefits for a ‘Reference Scheme’ design, based on Lord Hutton’s recommendations 
for scheme reform. This will inform discussions at scheme level with local government trade 
unions. Should the outcome of this consultation process be that member contribution increases 
are not 1.5 pp, the cost ceiling will be amended appropriately. 

Page 24



4.4 The Government Actuary’s Department confirms that the measures 
described at Annex A above can achieve the required savings of £900m 
by 2014-15.

4.5 Option 2 - A variation on that approach involving lower tariff increases, but 
offset by greater changes in accrual rate, or vice versa, could be chosen. 
One approach is set out below. 

Option 2 - This proposal to achieve the required £900m savings by 2014-15 (3 per 
cent of forecast pensionable paybill) comprises of two separate elements. It differs 
from Option 1 due to a lower contribution rate increase which is offset by a greater 
reduction in the accrual rate: 

i) An increase in employees’ contribution tariff from April 2012, to raise an 
additional £300m (1 per cent of pensionable paybill), and 

ii) A change in scheme’s accrual rate from April 2014, to raise an additional 
£600m (2 per cent of pensionable paybill) 

A more detailed analysis is shown at Annex A

4.6. Normal Pension Age: In his final report, Lord Hutton recommended that 
the pension age in public sector schemes could be linked to the State 
Pension Age. 

According to the Government Actuary’s Department, setting the national pension 
age of the LGPS at the national State Pension Age would deliver annual savings 
in the region of £330m if implemented for future service accruals. 

Measures to achieve the remaining required savings could include a combination 
of changes to accrual rate and employees’ contributions. 

4.7  Local Government Group: In response to the Secretary of State’s 
invitation of 20 July, the Local Government Group submitted a proposal to 
secure £900msavings by 2014-15. This consists of an increase to the 
normal pension age to 66, and a member choice of an increased 
contribution rate of change in the scheme’s accrual rate.

4.8 The Local Government Group’s submission (including detailed costings) to 
the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government can be 
found in full in Annex B and C respectively.

Part time members 

4.9 The current scheme regulations require that the appropriate contribution 
band for part time members is determined by their full time equivalent 
salary. The amount payable is then based on the individual’s actual pay.
This will continue to apply. For example, a scheme member currently 
working part time, doing 50 per cent of full time hours and earning £14,000 
will have a full time equivalent salary of £28,000. The rate of 6.5 per cent is 
therefore applied to the actual earnings of £14,000.  It is important to note 
that although the actual earnings fall within the protection threshold 
described at para 3.8 above, these protections, like the tariff bands, are 
based on full time equivalent salaries, in this example, £28,000. 

Page 25



Provision allowing scheme employers to benefit from savings  

4.10 The additional income achieved from the scheme amendments following 
the Spending Review announcement will help to re-balance the costs of 
public service pension provision between scheme members on the one 
hand, and employers and taxpayers on the other. In the context of the 
funded, locally administered LGPS, this is achieved when employers’ 
contributions are reduced as part of the scheme’s statutory triennial 
actuarial valuation process. However, the current regulations do not allow a 
downward revision of employer contribution rates between three-yearly 
actuarial valuations.

4.11 To ensure LGPS employers and taxpayers benefit from the savings 
achieved by the statutory amendments finally introduced, we suggest that it 
would be necessary to provide a technical amendment,  effective from April 
2012, that enables scheme-appointed actuaries to vary rates and 
adjustment certificates both between valuation exercises (i.e. between the 
2010 and 2013 valuations), and provide that the accrual rate changes 
proposed are reflected specifically in the 31 March 2013 valuation exercise  
to reflect the level of savings produced in scheme employers` contribution 
rates from April 2014. Views are invited on this particular proposal and 
how best it might be achieved in regulatory terms. 

Summary 

 5.1 The Government Actuary’s Department confirms that the introduction of the 
measures summarised in paragraphs 4.3 and 4.5 above and described in 
more detail at Annex A, can achieve the required savings of £900m by 
2014-15.

Consultation responses 

6.1 Consultees’ views on the proposals outlined in section 4 are formally 
sought by 6 January 2012. However, as set out below, those may be 
subject to modification in response to submissions received from 
consultees in the course of the consultation period.

Other proposals 

6.2 As referred to in paragraph 4.7, the Local Government Group has 
submitted their proposed package of savings to the Secretary of State.
The Department intends to analyse and consider the details of the 
submission with advisers to the Group within the statutory consultation 
exercise period.   

Page 26



6.3 Any further alternative proposals which may be submitted should if 
possible:

! be actuarially costed and verifiable and be clearly explained to provide 
efficient assessment 

! be capable of implementation within the legal powers which govern the 
regulatory framework of the scheme and 

! not take account of the recent changes in indexation from RPI to CPI or 
the impact of projected workforce reductions which have already been 
factored into recent LGPS pension fund valuations 

6.4 To assist the Department’s considerations, consultees who may wish to 
submit alternative proposals: 

! are invited to signal their intention to do so as soon as possible, please,
and by 28 October at the latest and

! are requested, please, to submit any specific costed options by no later
than 25 November, to allow an opportunity for discussion and 
appraisal

Next steps 

7.1 The Department invites consultees’ views and any evidence relating to all 
aspects of this statutory consultation, and in particular to the following 
questions:

! Question 1 – Do the proposals meet the policy and objectives to 
deliver the necessary level of savings in the LGPS?  

! Question 2 – Are there any consequences or aspects of the proposals 
that have not been fully addressed? 

! Question 3 – Is there a tariff or alternative measures which consultees 
think would help to further minimise any opt outs from the scheme?

! Question 4 - Are there equality issues that could result in any 
individual groups being disproportionately affected by the proposals? If 
so, what are considered to be the nature and scale of that 
disproportionate effect?  What remedies would you suggest? 

! Question 5 - Within the consultation period, consultee’s views are 
invited on the prospects of introducing into the LGPS a link with state 
pension age as recommended to the Government in Lord Hutton’s 
report.

Page 27



Use of information 

8.1 This consultation will be available for viewing on the LGFPS website at 
http://www.clg.heywood.co.uk/homepage.  A summary of responses will be 
published within three months of the close of the consultation on this 
website.

8.2 Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal 
information, may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access 
to information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 
2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004).

8.3 If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, 
please be aware that, under the Freedom of Information Act, there is a 
statutory Code of Practice with which public authorities must comply and 
which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of confidence. In view 
of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the 
information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 
disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, 
but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in 
all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by 
your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 

8.4 The Department will process your personal data in accordance with the 
Data Protection Act and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. 

Yours sincerely,   

T B J CROSSLEY 

Page 28



The consultation is addressed to:

The Chief Executive of: 
 County Councils (England) 
 District Councils (England) 
 Metropolitan Borough Councils (England) 
 Unitary Councils (England) 
 County and County Borough Councils in Wales 
 London Borough Councils 
 South Yorkshire Pension Authority 
 Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  
 Bradford Metropolitan City Council 
 South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Wolverhampton Metropolitan Borough Council  
 London Pension Fund Authority 
 Environment Agency 

Town Clerk, City of London Corporation
Clerk, South Yorkshire PTA 
Clerk, West Midlands PTA 

Fire and Rescue Authorities in England and Wales       
Police Authorities in England and Wales 
Audit Commission 
National Probation Service for England and Wales 
New Towns Pension Fund 

Local Government Association (LGA) 

Employers' Organisation  
LGPC

ALACE
PPMA
SOLACE         
CIPFA  
ALAMA        

Association of Colleges        
Association of Consulting Actuaries 
Association of District Treasurers 
Society of County Treasurers      
Society of Welsh Treasurers      
Society of Metropolitan Treasurers    
Society of London Treasurers 
Society of Chief Personnel Officers 
Association of Educational Psychologists  

NALC
Society of Local Council Clerks 

Trades Union Congress  UCATT 
UNISON   GMB 
NAEIAC   NAPO 
UNITE

Equal Opportunities Commission 

Page 29



Annex A: Local Government Pension Scheme in 
England and Wales 

Government’s proposals to achieve the required savings of £900m by 2014-
15

Design principles 

1. The Government believes that any proposed increases in contributions rates 
should protect low earners and be progressive, so that high earners pay 
proportionally higher increases to reflect their more generous pensions. The 
Government also set out its preferred parameters for scheme design to 
achieve the required savings in the Chief Secretary’s Written Ministerial 
Statement of 19 July.

2. These parameters, outlined below, are reflected in the tariff proposed in this 
paper (all references are to full time equivalent salaries): 

! there should be no increase in employee contributions for those 
earning less than £15,000 

! there should be no more than a 1.5 percentage point increase in total 
by 2014-15 for those earning up to £21,000. This amounts to a 0.6 
percentage point increase in 2012-13 on a pro-rata basis 

! high earners will pay more, but no more than 6 percentage points 
(before tax relief) by 2014-15. This amounts to a 2.4 percentage point 
cap in 2012-13 on a pro-rata basis 

3. For the LGPS in England and Wales, ministers believe there is a case to 
consider a broader range of opportunities to secure appropriate levels of 
savings for employers within the scheme. The scheme’s funded status 
lends itself to this approach which not only helps to protect the high 
proportion of low paid, part-time members of the scheme but it assists 
directly in the Government’s objective to minimise opt-outs and contribute 
to the ongoing viability of the funded LGPS, itself a major policy component 
of the package given the national significance of LGPS pension funds by 
value.

Existing tariff 

4. The existing levels of employee contributions as currently set out in 
regulation 3 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Contributions and Membership) regulations 2007 (the Benefits 
Regulations) are as follows: 

£0 - £12,600       5.5% 
£12,601 - £14,700       5.8% 
£14,701 - £18,900       5.9% 
£18,901 - £31,500       6.5% 
£31,501 - £42,000       6.8% 
£42,001 - £78,700       7.2% 
£78,701 +       7.5% 

Page 30



Government proposals for the Local Government Pension Scheme

5. The Government proposes to achieve the required savings of £900m by 
2014-15 from a combination of a proportionate increase in the rate of 
contribution paid by scheme members and a marginal change in the rate at 
which scheme benefits are accrued. The proportion of each element 
relative to the required £900m savings would therefore have different 
impacts on the extent to which scheme members bear additional costs now 
(increase in the contribution rate) or later, on retirement (change in the 
accrual rate).

6. Comments are therefore invited on two possible approaches, the first of 
which achieves most of the savings from the proposed change in accrual 
rate, thus impacting less on scheme members’ disposable income and the 
second, weighting more of the required savings towards increases in 
scheme members’ contribution with less impact on future accrual under the 
current scheme. 

Approach 1 

7. Under this proposal, £450m (equivalent to 1.5 per cent) would be achieved 
from a phased increase in employees’ contribution rate as shown in the 
table below: 

Tariff Band (% of 
membership) Current 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

£0 - £12,900 (8.67%) 5.5% 5.5% (0.0%) 5.5% (0.0%) 5.5% (0.0%) 
£12,901- £15,100 (10.61%) 5.8% 5.8% (0.0%) 5.8% (0.0%) 5.8% (0.0%) 
£15,101- £19,400 (25.20%) 5.9% 5.9% (0.0%) 6.0% (0.1%) 6.0% (0.1%) 
£19,401- £21,000 (7.47%) 6.5% 6.7% (0.2%) 7.2% (0.7%) 7.7% (1.2%) 
£21,001- £32,400 (31.34%) 6.5% 7.2% (0.7%) 8.0% (1.5%) 8.3% (1.8%) 
£32,401- £43,300 (11.16%) 6.8% 7.5% (0.7%) 8.3% (1.5%) 8.7% (1.9%) 
£43,301- £60,000 (4.18%) 7.2% 8.2% (1.0%) 8.7% (1.5%) 9.0% (1.8%) 
£60,001- £81,100 (0.91%) 7.2% 8.7% (1.5%) 9.2% (2.0%) 10.0% (2.8%) 
£81,101- £100,000 (0.25%) 7.5% 9.0% (1.5%) 9.8% (2.3%) 11.0% (3.5%) 
£100,001- £150,000 (0.16%) 7.5% 9.5% (2.0%) 11.0% (3.5%) 12.0% (4.5%) 
£150,001 + (0.05%) 7.5% 10.0% (2.5%) 12.0% (4.5%) 12.5% (5.0%) 

Local Government Pension Scheme employee contributions are deducted from 
gross pay before income tax. Therefore, they normally benefit from tax relief. 

The tables below illustrate the effect of tax relief on the level of contributions 
members would pay if the proposed tariff above is adopted in 2012-13, 2013-14 
and 2014-15.

Page 31



2011/12 2012/2013 

Full-time 
pay  

Contribution rate 
net of tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief 

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 5.76% 0.56% 12
£40,000 5.44% 6.00% 0.56% 19
£80,000 4.32% 5.22% 0.90% 60
1:Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

2011/12 2013/2014 

Full-time 
pay  

Contribution rate 
net of tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief  

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 6.40% 1.20% 25
£40,000 5.44% 6.64% 1.20% 40
£80,000 4.32% 5.52% 1.20% 80
1: Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

2011/12 2014/2015 

Full-time pay  
Contribution 
rate net of 
tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief  

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 6.64% 1.44% 30
£40,000 5.44% 6.96% 1.52% 51
£80,000 4.32% 6.00% 1.68% 112
1: Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

8. The balance of £450m in this case would be achieved a by a stepped 
change in the scheme’s accrual rate from the current rate of 1/60ths to 
1/64ths with effect from April 2013 and to 1/65ths with effect from April 
2014

Impact of benefits of change in accrual

The following tables show the effect on the pension of a change in accrual 
rate from 60ths to 64ths in 2013-14 and to 65ths in 2014-15:  

    1 year of service Final pensionable 
pay (31.03.2015)          1/64th     1/65th         % Change 
       £10,000         £156.25         £153.85        -1.54% 
       £25,000         £390.63         £384.62        -1.54% 
       £40,000         £625.00         £615.38        -1.54% 
       £80,000  £1,250.00         £1.230.77            -1.54% 

Page 32



   Five years of service Final pensionable 
pay (31.03.2015)          1/60th  64ths and 65ths in

last two years 
        % Change 

       £10,000         £833.33         £810.10        -2.79% 
       £25,000  £2,083.33         £2,025.25            -2.79% 
       £40,000  £3,333.33         £3,240.38            -2.79% 
       £80,000  £6,666.67         £6,480.77            -2.79% 

In the above table, the member accrues 60ths for three years, 64ths for 1 
year and 65ths for one year. 

A member with final pensionable pay of £40,000 and service of five years 
at 31 March 2015 will have accrued a pension of £3,333.33 pa on an 
accrual of 60ths. If the accrual rate is lowered to 64ths in 2013-14 and to 
65ths in 2014-15, then the accrued pension at 31 March 2015 will be 
around 3 per cent lower at £3,240.38. 

9. On this basis, the total expected savings over the Spending review period 
would be: 

      2012/13 2013/14         2014/15 
Tariff Increase       £180m  £360m          £450m 
Accrual Rate       £0 £360m          £450m 
Total       £180m        £720m          £900m 

10. In line with the Government’s preferred design, the overall savings 
achieved from the above proposed increases in employees’ contribution 
rates have been phased in over the Spending review period on a ratio of 
40:40:20.

Approach 2 

 11. Under this proposal, £300m of the £900m required savings (equivalent to 1 
per cent) would be achieved from a phased increase in employees’ 
contribution rate as shown in the table below: 

Tariff Band (% of 
membership) Current 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

£0 - £12,900 (8.67%) 5.5% 5.5% (0.0%) 5.5% (0.0%) 5.5% (0.0%) 
£12,901- £15,100 (10.61%) 5.8% 5.8% (0.0%) 5.8% (0.0%) 5.8% (0.0%) 
£15,101- £19,400 (25.20%) 5.9% 5.9% (0.0%) 6.0% (0.1%) 6.0% (0.1%) 
£19,401- £21,000 (7.47%) 6.5% 6.5% (0.0%) 6.8% (0.3%) 6.8% (0.3%) 
£21,001- £32,400 (31.34%) 6.5% 6.8% (0.3%) 7.2% (0.7%) 7.5% (1.0%) 
£32,401- £43,300 (11.16%) 6.8% 7.1% (0.3%) 7.8% (1.0%) 8.2% (1.4%) 
£43,301- £60,000 (4.18%) 7.2% 7.8% (0.6%) 8.4% (1.2%) 8.8% (1.6%) 
£60,001- £81,100 (0.91%) 7.2% 8.7% (1.5%) 8.8% (1.6%) 9.5% (2.3%) 
£81,101- £100,000 (0.25%) 7.5% 9.0% (1.5%) 9.8% (2.3%) 10.5% (3.0%) 
£100,001- £150,000 (0.16%) 7.5% 9.3% (1.8%) 10.8% (3.3%) 11.5% (4.0%) 
£150,001 + (0.05%) 7.5% 9.5% (2.0%) 11.8% (4.3%) 12.5% (5.0%) 

Page 33



Local Government Pension Scheme employee contributions are deducted 
from gross pay before income tax. Therefore, they normally benefit from 
tax relief. 

The tables below illustrate the effect of tax relief on the level of 
contributions members would pay if the proposed tariff above is adopted in 
2012-13, 2013-14 and 2014-15.

2011/12 2012/2013 

Full-time 
pay  

Contribution rate 
net of tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief 

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 5.44% 0.24% 5
£40,000 5.44% 5.68% 0.24% 8
£80,000 4.32% 5.22% 0.90% 60
1: Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

2011/12 2013/2014 

Full-time 
pay  

Contribution rate 
net of tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief  

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 5.76% 0.56% 12
£40,000 5.44% 6.24% 0.80% 27
£80,000 4.32% 5.28% 0.96% 64
1: Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

2011/12 2014/2015 

Full-time pay  
Contribution 
rate net of 
tax relief1

Contribution 
rate net of tax 
relief

Increase in 
contribution rate 
net of tax relief  

Additional cost  
(£ per month) 

£10,000 4.40% 4.40% 0.00% 0
£25,000 5.20% 6.00% 0.80% 17
£40,000 5.44% 6.56% 1.12% 37
£80,000 4.32% 5.70% 1.38% 92
1: Contribution rate net of tax relief is the percentage of your total pay by which your take-home 
pay is lower because of the proposed new tariff.

12.  It is proposed that the balance of £600m (equivalent to 2 per cent) would 
be achieved by a change in the Scheme’s accrual rate from the current 
1/60th to 1/67th with effect from 1 April 2014 

Impact of benefits of change in accrual

The following tables show the effect on the pension of a change in accrual 
rate during the year 2014-15. 

Page 34



    One year of service Final pensionable 
pay (31.03.2015)          1/60th     1/67th         % Change 
       £10,000         £166.67         £149.25        -10.45% 
       £25,000         £416.67         £373.13        -10.45% 
       £40,000         £666.67         £597.01        -10.45% 
       £80,000  £1,333.33         £1.194.03            -10.45% 

   Five years of service Final pensionable 
pay (31.03.2015)          1/60th     1/67th         % Change 
       £10,000         £833.33         £815.92        -2.09% 
       £25,000  £2,083.33         £2,039.80            -2.09% 
       £40,000  £3,333.33         £3,263.68            -2.09% 
       £80,000  £6,666.67         £6,527.36            -2.09% 

A member with Final Pensionable Pay of £40,000 pa and service of five 
years at 31 March 2015 will have accrued a pension of £3,333.33 pa on an 
accrual of 60ths. If the accrual rate is lowered to 67ths in 2014-15, then the 
accrued pension at 31 March 2015 will be around 2 per cent lower at 
£3,263.68 pa. 

13. On this basis, the total expected savings over the Spending review period 
would be: 

      2012/13 2013/14         2014/15 
Tariff Increase       £95m  £220m          £300m 
Accrual Rate       £0 £0m          £600m 
Total       £120m        £240m          £900m 

Page 35



Annex B: Local Government Group proposals,
21 September 2011 

Local Government Pension Scheme – Proposed increase in employee 
contributions

As you will be aware, in the public sector Spending Review statement in October 
2010 the Government announced its intention to increase employee pension 
contributions in the public service pension schemes (other than the Armed Forces 
Pension Scheme). The Government intended that the increases should be 
introduced progressively over the period 2012-13 to 2014-15. It was subsequently 
confirmed that the level of increase for members of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) would be 3.2 per cent, on average. 

The Local Government Group made representations to the Government that the 
funded nature of the LGPS meant that income equivalent to a 3.2 per cent 
increase could be generated in ways other than wholly via an increase in 
employee contributions. As a result of those representations the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government wrote to me on 20 July 2011 asking 
the Group to enter into discussions with the local government trade unions. This 
was with a view to establishing a package of measures to secure short term 
savings by 2014-15, equivalent to a 3.2 per cent increase in employee pension 
contribution rates, with any necessary legislation to be in place by 1 April 2012. 
The package could include alternative ways to deliver some or all of the savings, 
whilst providing protections from contribution increases for the lower paid. 

The LG Group has been in discussions with the trade unions since then.  

The Secretary of State’s letter of 20 July 2011 initially required the Group to 
provide him with an update on the outcome of the discussions by 9 September but 
a short extension to this deadline was subsequently allowed. However, despite 
constructive discussions with the trade unions, it has not so far been possible to 
reach agreement on a joint proposal to put to the Secretary of State. 

I have therefore written to the Secretary of State (on 21 September 2011) setting 
out the Group’s proposals as to how the required 3.2 per cent savings can be 
achieved in a way which we believe is fair to employees and affordable for the 
taxpayer (as an alternative to the level of increases in employee contributions that 
DCLG might otherwise come forward with). The proposals minimise the impact on 
the lower paid whilst at the same time giving choice to individuals.

The key elements of the Group’s proposals are: 

! no increase in employee contributions for staff with full-time equivalent 
earnings of less than £15,000, a moderate increase for those earning 
between £15,000 and £21,000 of 1.5 per cent and an increase of between 
2 per cent and 2.5 per cent for those earning over £21,000

! choice for employees, by giving those with full-time equivalent earnings of 
£15,000 or more who feel they cannot afford an increase in 
contributions the option of taking a reduced pension accrual rate instead for 

Page 36



future service from April 2014. Any employees with full-time equivalent 
earnings of less than £15,000 who may be finding it difficult to meet the 
current level of contribution would have the option of taking a reduction in 
their contribution rate but would, as a result, have a reduced pension 
accrual rate for future service from April 2014 

! raising the normal pension age from 65 to 66 for benefits built up from April 
2014. Benefits built up prior to then would retain a normal pension age 
of 65

A full copy of my letter to the Secretary of State is available at 
http://www.lge.gov.uk/lge/core/page.do?pageId=1 under ‘News and features’ 
together with some worked examples of the effect the choice mentioned in the 
second bullet point above would have on individuals. 

We believe our proposals: 

! overcome the issue of part-time employees having to pay an increased 
contribution rate determined by reference to their full-time equivalent salary 
(i.e. they would have the choice of being able to take the reduced accrual 
rate option instead)

! would help the low paid to stay in the scheme and reduce opt out rates 

! give employees a choice, which they can exercise in the light of their own 
personal circumstances

! ensure that those employees earning above the £15,000 threshold who 
want to keep their current pension accrual rate will have to pay more to 
retain that accrual rate, and

! reduce the risk of industrial action 

We understand that the Secretary of State will issue a statutory consultation 
document towards the end of September setting out the DCLG proposals for how 
the 3.2 per cent savings could be met. We would hope that consultation paper will 
make some reference to the LG Group proposals and it is our intention to 
continue discussions with the trade unions. 

Page 37



Annex C: Costings submitted with Local 
Government Proposals, 21 September 2011 

1 Data 

1.1.1 We have used national salary data to estimate the possible savings. We 
have assumed a £30bn payroll split as shown below. 

Low er Band Upper Band Current Rate Actual Salary
Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% £465,749,324
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% £903,561,303
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% £4,336,702,797
Band 4 £18,901 £31,500 6.5% £12,996,837,271
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% £6,132,933,585
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% £4,433,984,527
Band 7 £78,701 plus 7.5% £730,231,193
Total £30,000,000,000

1.1.2 This is the best available national data we have and is available in 
summary form only. 

1.1.3 We note that contribution bands have changed but the overall shape of the 
salary distribution is assumed to remain relevant for this exercise.  Any 
further up to date data becoming available should be used to update the 
calculations.

1.2 Core element 1 - increasing normal retirement age 

1.2.1 Increasing the retirement age for all by one year reduces the ongoing cost 
of the scheme by about 1 per cent to1.5 per cent of payroll though this will 
vary by fund.  We have assumed that GAD may value this on detailed 
national data on an average set of fund valuation assumptions and have 
assumed that 1 per cent of payroll will be saved by adopting this change. 
This is equivalent to £300m per year on the data shown above. 

1.3 Core element 2 - accrual or contribution rate changes 

1.3.1 We have therefore considered how we can raise the further £600m being 
required by HM Treasury. 

1.3.2 There are infinite combinations of contribution increases that will provide 
the £600m provided there are no opt outs, the data remains as estimated 
above and at this stage we are considering that 60ths accrual remains. 

1.3.3 We have shown three examples below.  These show the impact and make 
no allowance for any further options being proposed. 

Page 38



Table 1.3 Low er 
Band

Upper 
Band

Current 
contribution 

a) same 
increase

b) same uplif t    
c) steeper 
increase

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% 2.1% 1.9% 1.5%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.1% 1.5%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.1% 2.0%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5% 2.1% 2.1% 2.5%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% 2.1% 2.2% 2.5%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% 2.1% 2.3% 2.5%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%

Total raised £600m £605m £605m

1.3.4 We have assumed that lower paid protection level is set at £15,000 and 
members with salaries below this level will not be required to increase their 
contribution levels going forward. 

1.3.5 As can be seen, all these options will provide for the required income 
target. However, there is a higher risk of opt out for higher contribution 
increases, especially at lower salary levels. We consider that steeper 
patterns than option c) will effect much higher levels of opt out at higher 
salary bands, with the possible cascade effect as members follow 
behaviour patterns of their senior managers or directors. 

1.3.6 Option c) also meets the patterns required for other public sector schemes 
in that a 1.5 per cent limit it set for those with salaries up to £21,000. 

1.4 Core element 3 - reduce accrual option 

1.4.1 This section shows the possible savings from providing a reduced accrual 
option.

1.4.2 These savings assume that all members opt for the reduced accrual option. 

Table 1.4

Low er Band Upper Band

Current 
contribution 

rate

Reduce accrual 
(67ths)

Reduce accrual 
(68ths)

Reduce accrual 
(69ths)

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%

Total raised £600m £675m £715m

1.4.3 The accrual reduction that provides for £600m will depend upon both how 
the GAD value the reduced accrual change of the benefits on national 
detailed data. 

1.4.4 It will also depend upon where the lower paid protection limit gets set and 
the above assumes that this is set at £15,000. 

Page 39



1.5 Core element 3 – the lower paid  

1.5.1 The model suggested allows for lower paid members to pay reduced 
contributions if they choose the lower accrual route.  We have used 68th

accrual in the following table and assumed that a reduction in contributions 
of say 60/68 times the current rate would be a fair level of reduction. 

Table 1.5

Low er Band Upper Band

Current 
contribution 

rate

Reduce accrual 
(67ths)

Reduced 
contributions

Net effect

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 2.4% 0.6% 1.7%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 2.4% 0.7% 1.7%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5%

Total raised £32m £10m £22m

1.5.2 As can be seen above the saving will depend upon how much a reduction 
in contributions is offered to the lower paid members and how many of the 
lower paid opt for reducing accrual compared to the status quo. 

1.5.3 However, we feel it remains equitable to offer this reduced cost option, 
setting the possible accrual level at the same level as the higher paid to 
provide the lower paid with a similar choice. 

1.5.4 Any savings made from the above will depend on members choice so 
should not be included as certain in the total costs. 

1.6 Core element 3 – the higher paid 

1.6.1 The model suggested that higher paid members will retain their current 
60th accrual by paying more into the scheme. However we recognise that 
this will not be attractive and perhaps unaffordable for some. 

1.6.2 In this section therefore we have shown possible reduced accrual options 
that would provide these members with an alternative allowing their current 
contribution rates to remain. 

1.6.3 We have shown three cases below corresponding to the tables of proposed 
contribution increase tariffs within section 1.4. 

Page 40



Table 1.6 a

Low er Band Upper Band

Current 
contr bution 

rate

a) same 
increase

Reduce accrual 
(67ths)

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% 2.1% 2.1%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5% 2.1% 2.1%

Total raised £600m £600m

Table 1.6 b

Low er Band Upper Band

Current 
contr bution 

rate

b) same 
proportionate 

increase

Reduce accrual 
(68ths)

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% 1.9% 2.4%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.4%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5% 2.1% 2.4%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5% 2.1% 2.4%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% 2.2% 2.4%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% 2.3% 2.4%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5% 2.4% 2.4%

Total raised £605m £675m

Table 1.6 c

Low er Band Upper Band

Current 
contr bution 

rate

c) steeper 
increase

Reduce accrual 
(69ths)

Band 1 £0 £12,600 5.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 2 £12,601 £14,700 5.8% 0.0% 0.0%
Band 3 £14,701 £18,900 5.9% 1.5% 2.5%
Band 4a £18,901 £21,000 6.5% 1.5% 2.5%
Band 4b £21,001 £24,000 6.5% 2.0% 2.5%
Band 4c £24,001 £31,500 6.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Band 5 £31,501 £42,000 6.8% 2.5% 2.5%
Band 6 £42,001 £78,700 7.2% 2.5% 2.5%
Band 7 £78,700 plus 7.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Total raised £605m £715m

1.6.4 Of course there is no way of telling which way members will opt and most 
will need some help and financial advice to make the correct decision but 
the above shows that we can design a scheme which meets the required 
target.

1.6.5 As there is a risk of members selecting the option that does not raise 
sufficient income the accrual rate for a steeper contribution increase 
pattern than 1.3 c) will mean the accrual that can be offered as an option 
will become very unattractive. 

1.7 Stepping any changes 

1.7.1 We understand that stepping any changes over the three year period may 
be acceptable.  Administratively no changes will be very straightforward but 

Page 41



stepping changes to the contribution patterns will be possible whereas 
stepping the reduction in accrual will not be feasible. 

1.7.2 A possible spread of increase in step of 20 per cent/40 per cent/40 per cent 
will defer much of the change until the new scheme takes shape. 

1.8 Summary 

1.8.1 Therefore we have the following patterns or options. 

! Steeper stepping patterns for contributions than we have considered in 
section 1.3 which incur very high opt out risk, especially at middle to 
high salary bands.  We have rejected this option due to opt out risk at 
all levels that may cascade throughout the workforce in general. 

! Contribution patterns considered like those in section 1.3, which also 
have the appeal of being more easily phased in over a three year 
period.

! Contribution patterns with a suitable accrual reduction depending upon 
the upper contribution bands to ensure the required savings are met. 
As accrual reduction cannot be phased in it would need to be accepted 
that this change would only be practical in say year 2014. 

1.8.2 Due to administration simplicity and the ability to step the costs it seem that 
an option like 1.3 c) may be most favourable. 

1.8.3 However if options and choice for members are consider a more key factor 
then 1.6 b) would appear to offer a good solution as the accrual reduction 
is minimised. 

1.8.4 Alternatively, option 1.6 c) meets the contribution increase limits applying to 
other public sector funds, whereby the increases at lower salary bands are 
restricted. It also offers flexibility and choice for members, perhaps being 
an advantage outweighing the simplicity of 1.3c). 

Page 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2011 

SUBJECT: SECURITIES LENDING: 

INCREASED FLEXIBILITY ON PERMITTED 

COLLATERAL 

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

KEY DECISION NO 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request changes to the types of collateral that 
the global custodian is permitted to hold as part of the securities lending 
programme. The specific changes are to permit the holding of cash and equity 
securities, which is projected to increase the income received by 15%-20% 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That Members approve the relaxation of the guidelines for allowable collateral 
in the securities lending programme operated by State Street to include cash 
and international equities. 

 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 The reason for the recommendation is to generate additional projected income 
for MPF of £113,000-£150,000 per annum. 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

4.1 MPF has had a securities lending programme since 2002 operated by the 
global custodian, presently State Street. This programme has generated 
significant income whilst managing risk appropriately. 

 
4.2 The income for the last 12 months has been £754,000; if the guidelines were 

amended to permit the use of cash collateral and international equities it is 
estimated that revenue could increase by 15-20%. 

 
4.3 Attached to this report as an appendix is a training guide to securities lending. 

The key issue with collateral is that it is posted by institutions borrowing 
securities and is the key control against risk of default by borrowers. 

 
4.4 Following regulatory changes and changes in the market place resulting in 

more demand for loans with cash collateral and international equity collateral, 
State Street has requested a relaxation of guidelines to facilitate this. At present 
MPF accepts collateral in the form of G10 Sovereign Debt Bonds. 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 49



 
4.5 The cash collateral would be posted in The SSgA Liquidity PLC, which is a AAA 

rated Irish UCIT compliant money market fund and is a member of the 
Institutional Money Market Funds Association. This has a highly diversified 
exposure from a credit perspective and is managed with a view to preserving  

 
5.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

5.1 The key risks associated with collateral held in securities lending contracts is 
that the counterparty fails to deliver the lent security leading to retention of 
collateral and that the collateral held is insufficient to cover the value of the lent 
security. There is also a risk of suffering a loss on the reinvestment of cash 
collateral. 

 
5.2 There are two key of controls to mitigate this risk. 
 

• Firstly there are limits on which counterparties are allowed to borrow stocks 
and their level of exposure. State Street controls this with a high level of due 
diligence. 

 
• Secondly the level of collateral posted is calculated daily and includes a 

margin of 2%-5% over the amount of securities lent. 
 

• The pooled fund proposed by State Street for cash collateral investment 
diversifies and controls risk. 

 
5.3 There is a small but appropriate and carefully managed increase in risk in the 

proposed changes to allowable collateral.  This increase is considered 
appropriate given the mitigating controls 

 

6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

6.1 Not relevant for this report. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 Not relevant for this report 
 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

9.1 The approval of this report is projected to generate an additional £113,000-
£150,000 per annum. 

 
9.2 There are no implications for IT staffing or assets arising directly from this 

report. 
 
10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 50



 
11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality? 

 
 (b) No because there is no relevance to equality. 
 
12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 There are no carbon usage implications nor any other relevant environmental 
issues arising from this report. 

 
13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Paddy Dowdall 
  Investment Manager 
  telephone:  0151 2421310 
  paddydowdall@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
APPENDICES 

 An introductory guide to securities lending is attached as an appendix to this 
report. 

 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 

None used in the production of this report.  
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Pensions Committee 

 

Statement of Investment Principles 

16 November 2010 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



 

Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2011 

SUBJECT: INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING 

PARTY: PROPOSED CHANGES TO 

FORMAT AND REPORTING 

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

KEY DECISION NO 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to request some changes to the way in which the 
Investment Monitoring Working Party monitors investments. The report also 
invites Members not present at recent training sessions or IMWP to give 
feedback on proposals and to suggest changes. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Members approve the proposed changes to the way in which the IMWP 
works. Officers will take note of any suggested amendments and implement 
them for future IMWP meetings. 

 
2.2 This recommendation may necessitate a review of some key documents such 

as SIP, compliance manual, and monitoring policy. 
 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 The reason for the recommendations is to improve the monitoring framework 
for the investments of MPF and make best use of the limited time of Members. 
The changes will ensure that MPF complies with LGPS regulations and with 
recommended best practice. 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

4.1 The Statement of Investment Principles sets out a framework for effective 
decision making for MPF. Included in this is the role of the IMWP as detailed 
below. 

 
The Pensions Committee takes strategic decisions on asset allocation, 
investment manager selection and other high-level investment policy matters 
and delegates tactical asset allocation and investment monitoring through the 
IMWP. The IMWP is a deliberative body, acting as a forum where investment 
issues can be discussed in depth, with the power to make recommendations to 
Committee. The Director of Finance of Wirral Council (Section 151 Officer) is 
delegated to implement Committee policy and manage MPF leading a well 
qualified and experienced internal team. 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 61



 

Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

4.2 MPF recently appointed new strategic consultants AON Hewitt who provided a 
training session on investment strategy and governance on 20 October 2011. 
From their presentation and the discussion that followed, a consensus on a 
number of issues emerged. 

 
• The key issue for investments is to manage the funding position which 

requires managing the assets with regard to the liabilities. The liabilities are 
sensitive to real yields. Asset allocation should have regard to how assets 
behave in terms of the additional return and importantly the level of variance 
in returns away from the risk free level of return. 

 
• An investment strategy that generates high levels of expected return also 

generates higher risk and creates funding level volatility and potentially 
contribution rate volatility. 

 
• The current asset allocation mix has a high level of predicted out-performance 

but is more diversified in its sources of return than the average pension fund 
(i.e. it has a higher than average allocation to alternative assets and less 
equities). 

 
• The key decisions for investments, in descending order, are strategic asset 

allocation, tactical asset allocation and investment manager issues. 
 

• Whilst MPF has many areas of good practice in governance and is in a good 
position relative to its peers the focus has tended to be on manager issues at 
the expense of strategic and tactical asset allocation. 

 
• There are huge demands on Members time and the amount of time the 

Committee has to focus on investments is limited.  
 

• The level of information and details presented to Members in the IMWP packs 
at present is high.  

 
• There have been low levels of attendance at IMWP and training days. 

 
4.3 A broad consensus emerged on some proposed changes to the way in which 

the IMWP works 
 

• The present number of meetings 6 IMWP plus two training days should be 
reduced to 6 IMWP with the meeting in June to review annual performance by 
WM plus reports from internal investment management and 3 other quarterly 
meetings to review performance and reports from external managers. The 2 
IMWP meetings not receiving quarterly reports should be taken up by training 
and strategic considerations.  

 
• All of the quarterly IMWP meetings will have a review of risk and liabilities and 

tactical asset allocation presented by the consultant. 

Page 62



 

Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

 
• In order to free up time for the points above managers should be allocated 

less time to speak. Consideration should be give to reducing the frequency of 
manager attendance and targeting by exception. This might mean that 
managers performing well will come less than once a year and poorly 
performing managers more than once a year. There was less consensus on 
this issue. 

 
• The content of the IMWP packs will be refocussed to the present executive 

summary with an added report on liabilities plus reports for managers 
attending that meeting. The current pack with all the reports on individual 
managers will continue to be produced for the Director of Finance to ensure 
that officer led monitoring continues to be effective. 

 
• The minutes of IMWP presented to Pensions Committee will in future include 

a summary of funding position, investment performance, asset allocation 
performance and any decisions taken.  It is also recommended that the timing 
of the quarterly IMWP meetings be such that there is a Pensions Committee 
shortly after each IMWP. 

 
• The tolerance bands controlling asset allocation variations should be widened 

and delegation to officers be reviewed to ensure implementation of decisions 
can be undertaken in an effective and timely way. 

 
• Aon Hewitt will prepare a short, anonymous questionnaire for Members to 

complete to assist them in delivering training in appropriate areas. 
 
5.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

5.1 There are no risks arising directly from this report. The purpose of the 
governance arrangements of MPF is to control risk. 

 
6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

6.1 Members are asked to make suggestions for other improvements to the way in 
which the IMWP works 

 
7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 Not relevant for this report 
 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no implications for arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 63



 

Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality? 

 
 (b) No because there is no relevance to equality. 
 
12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 There are no carbon usage implications nor any other relevant environmental 
issues arising from this report. 

 

13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Paddy Dowdall 
  Investment Manager 
  telephone:  0151 2421310 
  paddydowdall@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
APPENDICES 

 There are no appendices 
 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 

None used in the production of this report.  
 
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Pensions Committee 

 

Statement of Investment Principles 

16 November 2010 

 

 

 

Page 64



 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2011 

SUBJECT: AUDIT COMMISSION FINAL ANNUAL 

GOVERNANCE REPORT (AGR) 

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

KEY DECISION NO 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the final Annual 
Governance Report (AGR) from the Audit Commission as approved at Audit 
and Risk Management Committee on 28 September 2011. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That Members note the final AGR plus the supplement and the audit opinion 
which are attached as an appendix to this report. 

 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 The purpose of the recommendation and report is to provide this Committee 
with the final conclusion of the audit process for 2010/11. 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

4.1 Pensions Committee approved the Accounts and draft AGR on 19 September 
2011. At the time of the meeting the audit was not complete and the District 
Auditor stated that there may need to be a report back to Pensions Committee. 

 
4.2 There were no revisions to the financial statements in the final stages of the 

audit process post Pensions Committee but there were changes to the AGR 
and a supplement was presented to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee. 

 
4.3 The audit process was completed with the release of the audit opinion on 30 

September 2011.  This opinion included a last minute revision to refer to the 
fact that the governance statement for MPF was not included in the annual 
report, but is available from the Pension Fund. This is an approach adopted by 
a number of other local authority pension funds and has been adopted by MPF 
in previous years. 

 
5.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

5.1 Not relevant for this report. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 65



 
 

6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

6.1 Not relevant for this report. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 Not relevant for this report 
 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

8.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality? 

 
 (b) No because there is no relevance to equality. 
 
12.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 There are no carbon usage implications  nor any other relevant environmental 
issues arising from this report. 

 
13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Paddy Dowdall 
  Investment Manager 
  telephone:  0151 2421310 
  paddydowdall@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
APPENDICES 

 The final AGR plus the supplement and the audit opinion are attached as an 
appendix to this report. 

 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 

None used in the production of this report.  
 
 

Page 66



 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Pensions Committee :  

Accounts 2010/11  

Audit Commission Annual Governance Statement 

 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

 

Pension Fund Accounts 2010/11  

Audit Commission Annual Governance Statement 

 

 

 

19 September 2011 

 

 

28 September 2011 

 

 

 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Commission Audit of accounts 2010/11 

1 

Annual Governance Report supplement 

Merseyside Pension Fund 

Audit 2010/11 

28 September 2011 
 

1 This note updates members of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee at its meeting on 28 September 2011  

2 My Annual Governance Report was presented to the Pensions Committee 
on 19 September. My summary on page 3 remains valid and I propose to 
give my opinion by 30 September 2011.  

 

Financial statements Results

Unqualified audit opinion Yes

Pre-audit financial statements free from material error No

Post-audit financial statements free from material error Yes

Weakness in internal control No

 

3 Page 5 of the report set out a number of issues that were still outstanding. 
I have updated the position below: 

! Review of the final set of accounts including all the amendments 
agreed on audit.  Now reviewed and agreed. 

! Review of the Annual Report. In progress. Latest version received 
on 28 September 2011 and I will conclude my review once final 
checks have been made.  Subject to our final review, I plan to 
issue an unqualified opinion on the annual report. 

! Review of the amended statements. Now reviewed and agreed. 

! Completion of elements of my testing, in particular on: 
" Contributions, and 
" Investments. Now completed. 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Audit Commission Audit of accounts 2010/11 

2 

4 My testing identified further non material errors which I bring to your 
attention. These have been amended in the final set of accounts: 

Enhancement to note 15, breaking down the Internally Managed 
Holdings balance. 

 

Removal of Contingent Assets note. 

 

Understatement of Pooled Investment Vehicles of £13,773,000. 

NB: We reported this understatement in our AGR as £6,700,000 (page 
6). This figure has since increased. 

 

5 I also identified some further changes which have not been amended in 
these statements, but will be brought forward to 2011/12. These changes 
are immaterial but I bring them to your attention to aid you in fulfilling your 
governance responsibilities: 

Enhancement to accounting policies to include policies on: 

" Accruals; 

" Material derivative classes; 

" Pooled investment vehicles; 

" Futures contracts; and 

" Foreign exchange contracts. 
 

Enhancement to related party transaction note to include debtor and 
creditor balances between Wirral MBC and Merseyside Pension Fund. 
I am also asking for a specific representation regarding three 
declaration of interest forms which were not obtained. 

Note 7 Financial Instruments incorrectly includes cash of £807,000. 

Pooled Investment Vehicles (Infrastructure assets) have been 
understated by £348,481. 

6 I have updated appendix 2 to the report (adjusted errors) to reflect the final 
position. 

 

 

 

Page 70



Audit Commission Audit of accounts 2010/11 

3 

Update to Appendix 2 to Merseyside Pension Funds 
Annual Governance Report 2010/11 

Fund account Net assets 
statement

Adjusted 
misstatement 

Nature of adjustment Dr  
£000s 

Cr 
£000s 

Dr 
£000s 

Cr  
£000s 

Transitional 
IFRS net asset 
statement 
omitted 

Include net assets 
statement as at  
1 April 2009 

    

Misanalysis of 
investments 

£139m investment in 
Amundi Global Emerging 
Markets and £134m 
investment in M&G Global 
Emerging Markets 
categorised as equity 
investments rather than 
pooled investments 

  273,000 273,000 

10,000 units in 
L’Oreal Prime 
de Fidelité 
omitted from 
net assets 
statement 

Increase value of 
investments in net assets 
statement and increase 
change in market value of 
investments in funds 
account 

 728 728  

Understatement 
of Pooled 
Investment 
Vehicles 

Understatement of Pooled 
Investment Vehicles 
(Private Equity) 
 
 
 

 13,773 13,773  

Other 
disclosure 
errors 

! a small number of 
typographic errors and 
mis-castings  

 
! gross up £4m Forward 

Euro contracts and £4m 
associated liabilities in 
investments disclosure 
note 

 
! £0.5m transitional fund 

    

Page 71



Audit Commission Audit of accounts 2010/11 

4 

 

manager balance 
categorised as equity 
rather than cash 

 
! The contributions note 

does not disclose that 
an element of regular 
employer contributions 
represents deficit 
funding  

 
! Enhancement to note 

15, breaking down the 
Internally Managed 
Holdings balance. 

 
! Removal of Contingent 

Assets note. 
 

 

Page 72



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

1
 A
n

n
u

al
 g

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 

re
p

o
rt

M
er

se
ys

id
e 

P
en

si
o

n
 F

u
n

d

A
u

d
it

 2
01

0/
11

 

Page 73



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

2
 C

o
n

te
n

ts
K

ey
 m

es
sa

g
es

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..3

B
ef

o
re

 I 
co

m
p

le
te

 m
y 

au
d

it
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..4

F
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

5

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 1
 –

 D
ra

ft
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

au
d

it
o

r’
s 

re
p

o
rt

 t
o

 t
h

e 
m

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

W
ir

ra
l B

o
ro

u
g

h
 C

o
u

n
ci

l..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
10

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 1
a 

– 
D

ra
ft

 in
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
au

d
it

o
r’

s 
re

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

in
cl

u
si

o
n

 in
 P

en
si

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
...

...
...

...
...

...
..1

2

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 2
 –

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
 t

o
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
..1

4

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 3
 –

 L
et

te
r 

o
f 

re
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

16

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 4
 –

 A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..1
8

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 5
 –

 G
lo

ss
ar

y
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.1
9

 

T
ra

ff
ic

 li
g

h
ts

 
R

ed
   

   
   

  A
m

be
r 

   
   

   
 G

re
en

 

Page 74



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

3
 K

ey
 m

es
sa

g
es

 
T

h
is

 r
ep

o
rt

 s
u

m
m

ar
is

es
 t

h
e 

fi
n

d
in

g
s 

fr
o

m
 m

y 
20

10
/1

1 
au

d
it

 o
f 

th
e 

ac
co

u
n

ts
 o

f 
M

er
se

ys
id

e 
P

en
si

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 (
th

e 
P

en
si

o
n

 F
u

n
d

) 
w

h
ic

h
 is

 s
u

b
st

an
ti

al
ly

 c
o

m
p

le
te

.

O
u

r 
fi

n
d

in
g

s 

A
ud

it 
op

in
io

n 
 

A
u

d
it

 o
p

in
io

n
 a

n
d

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

 !
 

S
ub

je
ct

 to
 s

at
is

fa
ct

or
y 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 m

at
te

rs
 I 

pl
an

 to
 is

su
e 

an
 u

nq
ua

lif
ie

d 
au

di
t o

pi
ni

on
 o

n 
th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 o

f M
er

se
ys

id
e 

P
en

si
on

 F
un

d.
 

 !
 

I i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 tw

o 
m

at
er

ia
l e

rr
or

s 
in

 th
e 

ac
co

un
ts

, t
he

 o
m

is
si

on
 o

f a
 N

et
 A

ss
et

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t a
s 

at
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

09
, a

nd
 a

 m
is

-c
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 £
27

3m
 p

oo
le

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 a

s 
eq

ui
ty

. T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
ha

s 
ag

re
ed

 to
 a

m
en

d 
th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 fo

r 
bo

th
 o

f t
he

se
 it

em
s.

 
 !

 
I i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
 s

m
al

l n
um

be
r 

of
 o

th
er

 d
is

cl
os

ur
e 

er
ro

rs
 a

nd
 o

ne
 n

on
-t

riv
ia

l a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

er
ro

r,
 a

ll 
of

 w
hi

ch
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

ha
s 

ag
re

ed
 to

 a
m

en
d.

 

     

Page 75



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

4
 B

ef
o

re
 I 

co
m

p
le

te
 m

y 
au

d
it

 
 

 I c
o

n
fi

rm
 t

o
 y

o
u

 
M

y 
re

po
rt

 in
cl

ud
es

 o
nl

y 
m

at
te

rs
 o

f g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

in
te

re
st

 th
at

 h
av

e 
co

m
e 

to
 m

y 
at

te
nt

io
n 

in
 p

er
fo

rm
in

g 
m

y 
au

di
t. 

M
y 

au
di

t i
s 

no
t d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
al

l m
at

te
rs

 th
at

 m
ig

ht
 b

e 
re

le
va

nt
 to

 y
ou

.  

 In
d

ep
en

d
en

ce

I c
an

 c
on

fir
m

 th
at

 I 
ha

ve
 c

om
pl

ie
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

A
ud

iti
ng

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 B

oa
rd

's
 e

th
ic

al
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 fo
r 

au
di

to
rs

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 

E
S

 1
 (

re
vi

se
d)

 -
 In

te
gr

ity
, O

bj
ec

tiv
ity

 a
nd

 In
de

pe
nd

en
ce

. I
 c

an
 a

ls
o 

co
nf

irm
 th

er
e 

w
er

e 
no

 r
el

at
io

ns
hi

ps
 

re
su

lti
ng

 in
 a

 th
re

at
 to

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

, o
bj

ec
tiv

ity
 a

nd
 in

te
gr

ity
.  

 T
he

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
's

 A
ud

it 
P

ra
ct

ic
e 

ha
s 

no
t u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
an

y 
no

n-
au

di
t w

or
k 

fo
r 

th
e 

P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
du

rin
g 

20
10

/1
1.

 

 
 

I a
sk

 y
o

u
 t

o
 c

o
n

fi
rm

 t
o

 m
e 

I a
sk

 t
h

e 
P

en
si

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e 
to

: 

!
 

co
ns

id
er

 th
e 

m
at

te
rs

 r
ai

se
d 

in
 th

is
 r

ep
or

t b
ef

or
e 

re
co

m
m

en
di

ng
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f t
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
ac

co
un

ts
 to

 
W

irr
al

 B
or

ou
gh

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
(t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’
s)

 A
ud

it 
an

d 
R

is
k 

M
an

ag
em

en
t C

om
m

itt
ee

 (
th

e 
A

R
M

C
).

 

!
 

ta
ke

 n
ot

e 
of

 th
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 to
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d’

s 
ac

co
un

ts
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 s
et

 o
ut

 in
 th

is
 r

ep
or

t (
A

pp
en

di
x 

2)
;  

!
 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
e 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f t

he
 le

tte
r 

of
 r

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
(A

pp
en

di
x 

3)
 to

 th
e 

A
R

M
C

 o
n 

be
ha

lf 
of

 th
e 

P
en

si
on

 
F

un
d 

be
fo

re
 I 

is
su

e 
m

y 
op

in
io

n 
an

d 
co

nc
lu

si
on

; a
nd

 

!
 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
e 

A
R

M
C

 a
pp

ro
ve

 m
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 r
es

po
ns

e 
to

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 a
ct

io
n 

pl
an

 (
A

pp
en

di
x 

4)
. 

 I a
sk

 t
h

e 
A

R
M

C
 t

o
: 

!
 

co
ns

id
er

 th
e 

m
at

te
rs

 r
ai

se
d 

in
 th

is
 r

ep
or

t a
nd

 th
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 o
f t

he
 P

en
si

on
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 b
ef

or
e 

it:
 

!
ap

pr
ov

es
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

; 
!

ap
pr

ov
es

 th
e 

le
tte

r 
of

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

(A
pp

en
di

x 
3)

 b
ef

or
e 

I i
ss

ue
 m

y 
op

in
io

n 
an

d 
co

nc
lu

si
on

; a
nd

 
!

ag
re

es
 a

 r
es

po
ns

e 
to

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 a
ct

io
n 

pl
an

 (
A

pp
en

di
x 

4)
.. 

Page 76



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

5
 F

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
 

 
T

h
e 

P
en

si
o

n
 F

u
n

d
’s

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 a

re
 a

n
 im

p
o

rt
an

t 
m

ea
n

s 
b

y 
w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l a

cc
o

u
n

ts
 

fo
r 

it
s 

st
ew

ar
d

sh
ip

 o
f 

th
e 

fu
n

d
s.

 T
h

e 
m

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

th
e 

A
R

M
C

 h
av

e 
fi

n
al

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

th
es

e 
st

at
em

en
ts

. I
t 

is
 im

p
o

rt
an

t 
th

at
 t

h
e 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
th

e 
A

R
M

C
 c

o
n

si
d

er
 m

y 
fi

n
d

in
g

s 
b

ef
o

re
 a

d
o

p
ti

n
g

 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l’s
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. 

O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

S
ub

je
ct

 to
 s

at
is

fa
ct

or
y 

cl
ea

ra
nc

e 
of

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

 m
at

te
rs

, I
 p

la
n 

to
 is

su
e 

an
 a

ud
it 

re
po

rt
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

an
 u

nq
ua

lif
ie

d 
op

in
io

n 
on

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. 
M

at
te

rs
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 a

re
: 

!
 

I h
av

e 
no

t r
ec

ei
ve

d 
a 

fin
al

 s
et

 o
f a

cc
ou

nt
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
al

l t
he

 a
m

en
dm

en
ts

 a
gr

ee
d 

on
 a

ud
it 

  
!

 
I h

av
e 

ye
t t

o 
co

m
pl

et
e 

el
em

en
ts

 o
f m

y 
te

st
in

g,
 in

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 o

n:
 

!
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

, a
nd

 
!

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

co
nt

ai
ns

 a
 c

op
y 

of
 m

y 
dr

af
t r

ep
or

t f
or

 in
cl

us
io

n 
in

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s.

 

I r
ec

ei
ve

d 
th

e 
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t f

or
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

on
 1

 S
ep

te
m

be
r.

 If
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 m

at
er

ia
l i

nc
on

si
st

en
ci

es
 w

ith
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 g

ov
er

na
nc

e 
st

at
em

en
t a

nd
 th

e 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t r
ef

le
ct

s 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
Lo

ca
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t P
en

si
on

 S
ch

em
e 

(A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n)

 R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 2
00

8 
an

d 
re

la
te

d 
gu

id
an

ce
, I

 w
ill

 is
su

e 
an

 u
nq

ua
lif

ie
d 

op
in

io
n.

 A
pp

en
di

x 
1a

 c
on

ta
in

s 
a 

co
py

 o
f m

y 
dr

af
t r

ep
or

t f
or

 in
cl

us
io

n 
in

 th
e 

P
en

si
on

 F
un

d’
s 

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t. 

E
rr

o
rs

 in
 t

h
e 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts

I i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 tw

o 
m

at
er

ia
l e

rr
or

s 
in

 th
e 

P
en

si
on

 F
un

d’
s 

ac
co

un
ts

. T
he

 fi
rs

t i
s 

th
at

, i
n 

co
m

m
on

 w
ith

 m
os

t l
oc

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

s,
 th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 d

id
 

no
t i

nc
lu

de
 a

 N
et

 A
ss

et
s 

S
ta

te
m

en
t a

s 
at

 1
 A

pr
il 

20
09

. I
t i

s 
a 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t o

f I
F

R
S

 1
 F

irs
t t

im
e 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 IF

R
S

 th
at

 b
od

ie
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

a 
co

m
pa

ra
tiv

e 
N

et
 

A
ss

et
s 

S
ta

te
m

en
t a

t t
he

 d
at

e 
of

 tr
an

si
tio

n 
to

 IF
R

S
. T

he
 s

ec
on

d 
is

 a
 m

is
cl

as
si

fic
at

io
n 

of
 tw

o 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 to

ta
lli

ng
 £

27
3m

 a
s 

eq
ui

ty
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 p

oo
le

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
.  

I a
ls

o 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

on
e 

no
n-

m
at

er
ia

l e
rr

or
 in

 th
e 

va
lu

e 
of

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 a
 s

m
al

l n
um

be
r 

of
 o

th
er

 d
is

cl
os

ur
e 

er
ro

rs
.  

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t h
as

 a
gr

ee
d 

to
 a

m
en

d 
th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 fo

r 
al

l o
f t

he
 e

rr
or

s 
I i

de
nt

ifi
ed

. 

Page 77



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

6
 F

or
 d

et
ai

ls
 o

f a
ll 

of
 th

e 
am

en
de

d 
er

ro
rs

, s
ee

 A
pp

en
di

x 
2.

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
re

 a
ls

o 
am

en
di

ng
 th

e 
dr

af
t a

cc
ou

nt
s 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
va

lu
e 

of
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 b

y 
£6

.7
m

. I
n 

ac
co

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 it

s 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

po
lic

y,
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

ha
d 

us
ed

 th
e 

la
te

st
 a

ud
ite

d 
ac

co
un

ts
 (

as
 a

t 3
0 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
10

) 
to

 v
al

ue
 a

n 
un

qu
ot

ed
 in

ve
st

m
en

t. 
H

ow
ev

er
, b

y 
th

e 
tim

e 
of

 
ou

r 
au

di
t, 

ac
co

un
ts

 a
s 

at
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

 w
er

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
t a

nd
 w

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

th
e 

m
ov

em
en

t i
n 

va
lu

at
io

n.
 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

R
1

E
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 a
ny

 c
ha

ng
es

 to
 th

e 
in

ve
st

m
en

t l
ed

ge
r 

af
te

r 
it 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ec

on
ci

le
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

ge
ne

ra
l l

ed
ge

r 
ar

e 
al

so
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 in
 th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
. 

R
2

R
ev

ie
w

 th
e 

la
te

st
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

on
 u

nq
uo

te
d 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f a

 fo
rm

al
 p

ro
ce

ss
 c

on
si

de
rin

g 
po

te
nt

ia
l a

dj
us

tin
g 

po
st

 b
al

an
ce

 s
he

et
 

ev
en

ts
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

an
d 

m
em

be
rs

' a
pp

ro
va

l o
f t

he
 a

cc
ou

nt
s.

 

S
p

ec
if

ic
 r

is
ks

 a
n

d
 a

re
as

 o
f 

ju
d

g
em

en
t 

In
 p

la
nn

in
g 

m
y 

au
di

t I
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 a
re

as
 o

f j
ud

ge
m

en
t t

ha
t I

 h
av

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f m

y 
au

di
t. 

K
ey

 a
u

d
it

 r
is

k 
an

d
 o

u
r 

fi
n

d
in

g
s 

K
ey

 a
u

d
it

 r
is

k 
F

in
d

in
g

1.
 T

ri
en

n
ia

l A
ct

u
ar

ia
l V

al
u

at
io

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 

T
he

 F
un

d 
ha

s 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 a
 T

rie
nn

ia
l A

ct
ua

ria
l V

al
ua

tio
n 

R
ev

ie
w

 r
ef

le
ct

in
g 

its
 p

os
iti

on
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

20
10

. W
hi

ls
t t

hi
s 

is
 n

ot
 a

 d
ire

ct
 a

ud
it 

op
in

io
n 

ris
k,

 it
 is

 a
 k

ey
 is

su
e 

as
 r

eg
ar

ds
 th

e 
on

go
in

g 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 F

un
d.

 T
he

re
 a

re
 r

is
ks

 o
f i

nc
re

as
ed

 d
ef

ic
its

 le
ad

in
g 

to
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 c
os

ts
 fr

om
 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
em

pl
oy

er
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

. 

 

A
n 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l v
al

ua
tio

n 
is

 a
tta

ch
ed

 to
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d’

s 
ac

co
un

ts
. 

N
o 

em
pl

oy
er

 h
as

 d
ef

au
lte

d 
on

 th
ei

r 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
 in

 th
e 

ye
ar

. 

 

2.
 M

o
ve

 t
o

 ‘O
p

en
A

ir
’ s

ys
te

m
 

T
he

 F
un

d 
re

pl
ac

ed
 th

e 
sy

st
em

 u
se

d 
to

 m
on

ito
r 

an
d 

co
nt

ro
l i

nt
er

na
lly

 m
an

ag
ed

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

, 
‘S

ha
re

ho
ld

er
’, 

w
ith

 th
e 

‘O
pe

nA
ir’

 s
ys

te
m

 in
 2

01
0/

11
. T

he
re

 is
 a

 r
is

k 
th

at
 th

e 
ba

la
nc

es
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
ac

cu
ra

te
ly

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

be
tw

ee
n 

sy
st

em
s 

an
d 

a 
ris

k 
th

at
 e

ffe
ct

iv
e 

co
nt

ro
ls

 a
re

 n
ot

 in
 p

la
ce

 in
 th

e 
ne

w
 

sy
st

em
. 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
re

co
nc

ile
d 

th
e 

cl
os

in
g 

bo
ok

 c
os

t 
fig

ur
es

 fr
om

 ‘S
ha

re
ho

ld
er

’ t
o 

th
e 

op
en

in
g 

bo
ok

 
co

st
 fi

gu
re

s 
w

ith
in

 ‘O
pe

nA
ir’

.  
T

he
y 

di
d 

no
t 

id
en

tif
y 

an
y 

di
sc

re
pa

nc
ie

s.
 

Page 78



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

7
 

K
ey

 a
u

d
it

 r
is

k 
F

in
d

in
g

3.
 Im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
vo

lu
n

ta
ry

 r
ed

u
n

d
an

cy
  

I a
m

 a
w

ar
e 

th
at

 W
irr

al
 C

ou
nc

il 
is

 u
nd

er
go

in
g 

a 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

re
du

nd
an

cy
 p

ro
ce

ss
 w

he
re

by
 a

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
w

ill
 le

av
e 

in
 2

01
0/

11
. T

hi
s 

m
ay

 a
ffe

ct
 th

e 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
e 

te
am

 to
 

de
liv

er
 m

at
er

ia
lly

 c
or

re
ct

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 w
ith

in
 a

gr
ee

d 
tim

es
ca

le
s.

 

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
pr

ov
id

ed
 it

s 
ac

co
un

ts
 fo

r 
au

di
t w

ith
in

 th
e 

st
at

ut
or

y 
de

ad
lin

e 
on

 2
8 

Ju
ne

.  

4 
F

ir
st

 t
im

e 
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
 o

f 
In

te
rn

at
io

n
al

 F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
o

rt
in

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

F
ro

m
 2

01
0/

11
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

is
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

to
 a

do
pt

 th
e 

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l F
in

an
ci

al
 R

ep
or

tin
g 

S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 (

IF
R

S
) 

C
od

e.
 T

he
 C

od
e 

se
ts

 o
ut

 th
e 

pr
op

er
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
pr

ac
tic

es
 th

at
 b

od
ie

s 
m

us
t f

ol
lo

w
 

an
d 

re
qu

ire
s 

so
m

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l d

is
cl

os
ur

es
 fo

r 
20

10
/1

1.
  

 

W
e 

fo
un

d 
on

e 
m

at
er

ia
l e

rr
or

 in
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
 

F
un

ds
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
of

 IF
R

S
 –

 in
 c

om
m

on
 w

ith
 

m
os

t l
oc

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

s 
th

e 
F

un
d 

om
itt

ed
 a

 tr
an

si
tio

na
l N

et
 A

ss
et

 S
ta

te
m

en
t. 

5 
F

in
an

ci
al

 p
re

ss
u

re
s 

– 
co

n
tr

ib
u

ti
n

g
 e

m
p

lo
ye

rs
 

W
e 

ar
e 

aw
ar

e 
th

at
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

in
g 

bo
di

es
 to

 th
e 

pe
ns

io
n 

fu
nd

 a
re

 u
nd

er
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

an
d 

in
 m

an
y 

ca
se

s 
ar

e 
of

fe
rin

g 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

ea
rly

 r
et

ire
m

en
t, 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
re

du
nd

an
cy

 a
nd

 p
os

si
bl

y 
m

ay
 n

ee
d 

to
 m

ak
e 

co
m

pu
ls

or
y 

re
du

nd
an

ci
es

 in
 th

e 
ne

ar
 fu

tu
re

. T
hi

s 
m

ay
 p

la
ce

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 w

or
kl

oa
d 

on
 th

e 
P

en
si

on
s 

te
am

 in
 d

ea
lin

g 
w

ith
 th

e 
la

rg
e 

vo
lu

m
e 

of
 s

ev
er

an
ce

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 

W
e 

di
d 

no
t f

in
d 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f a

ny
 b

ac
kl

og
 in

 
pe

ns
io

ns
 a

dm
in

is
tr

at
io

n 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t o
f a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 w
or

kl
oa

d 
fr

om
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

nu
m

be
rs

 
of

 s
ev

er
an

ce
 c

as
es

 in
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

in
g 

bo
di

es
. 

6 
R

ec
o

n
ci

lia
ti

o
n

s 
b

et
w

ee
n

 A
X

IS
e 

an
d

 t
h

e 
G

en
er

al
 L

ed
g

er
 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
di

d 
no

t c
ar

ry
 o

ut
 r

ec
on

ci
lia

tio
ns

 b
et

w
ee

n 
th

e 
va

lu
es

 in
 A

X
IS

e 
P

en
si

on
s 

P
ay

ro
ll 

an
d 

m
em

be
rs

hi
p 

ad
m

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

sy
st

em
s 

to
 th

os
e 

in
 th

e 
G

en
er

al
 L

ed
ge

r 
in

 2
00

9/
10

. T
he

se
 a

re
 

es
se

nt
ia

l p
ro

ce
du

re
s 

w
hi

ch
 a

re
 in

te
nd

ed
 to

 g
iv

e 
th

e 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

as
su

ra
nc

e 
th

at
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 in

 
th

e 
fu

nd
 a

cc
ou

nt
 a

re
 c

or
re

ct
ly

 s
ta

te
d 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 o

ve
r 

re
ce

ip
ts

 a
nd

 
pa

ym
en

ts
 in

 k
ey

 a
re

as
. 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
ha

s 
re

co
nc

ile
d 

lu
m

p 
su

m
s 

in
 A

X
IS

e 
an

d 
th

e 
le

dg
er

. 

W
e 

ha
ve

 a
sk

ed
 fo

r 
ev

id
en

ce
 o

f a
 r

ec
on

ci
lia

tio
n 

of
 o

th
er

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

. 

7 
T

im
el

in
es

s 
o

f 
co

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s 

R
eg

ul
at

io
n 

42
(2

) 
of

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t P

en
si

on
 S

ch
em

e 
R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 2

00
8 

re
qu

ire
s 

em
pl

oy
er

 
au

th
or

iti
es

 to
 p

ay
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 to

 th
e 

ad
m

in
is

te
rin

g 
au

th
or

ity
 w

ith
in

 1
9 

da
ys

 o
f t

he
 e

nd
 o

f 
th

e 
m

on
th

 to
 w

hi
ch

 th
ey

 r
el

at
e.

 O
ur

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 in
 2

00
9/

10
 fo

un
d 

th
at

 w
hi

ls
t m

os
t b

od
ie

s 
pa

y 
on

 ti
m

e,
 s

om
e 

sm
al

le
r 

bo
di

es
 m

is
se

d 
th

es
e 

de
ad

lin
es

 r
eg

ul
ar

ly
, b

re
ac

hi
ng

 th
e 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
.

W
e 

ha
ve

 a
sk

ed
 fo

r 
ev

id
en

ce
 o

f t
he

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 fr
om

 e
m

pl
oy

er
 a

ut
ho

rit
ie

s.
 

Page 79



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

8
 

K
ey

 a
u

d
it

 r
is

k 
F

in
d

in
g

8 
V

al
u

at
io

n
 o

f 
u

n
q

u
o

te
d

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f R

ec
om

m
en

de
d 

P
ra

ct
ic

e 
(S

O
R

P
) 

re
qu

ire
s 

th
e 

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 
to

 b
e 

at
 m

ar
ke

t v
al

ue
 o

r 
w

he
re

 th
e 

va
lu

e 
is

 n
ot

 r
ea

di
ly

 a
sc

er
ta

in
ab

le
, a

t t
he

 F
un

d'
s 

es
tim

at
e 

of
 ‘f

ai
r 

va
lu

e’
. T

he
 P

en
si

on
 F

un
d'

s 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

po
lic

ie
s 

de
sc

rib
e 

th
e 

m
et

ho
do

lo
gy

 u
se

d 
fo

r 
th

es
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 a
s 

‘a
t m

an
ag

er
's

 v
al

ua
tio

n’
 a

nd
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
fo

llo
w

ed
 fo

r 
bo

th
 a

lte
rn

at
iv

es
 a

nd
 p

riv
at

e 
eq

ui
ty

 r
el

ie
s 

on
 v

al
ua

tio
ns

 r
ep

or
ts

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
by

 th
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
t m

an
ag

er
s 

an
d/

or
 a

dm
in

is
tr

at
or

s.
 It

 is
 

es
se

nt
ia

l t
ha

t t
he

 p
re

pa
re

rs
 o

f t
he

 p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
re

 s
at

is
fie

d 
th

at
 th

e 
va

lu
at

io
ns

 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
th

es
e 

sp
ec

ia
lis

ts
 c

om
pl

y 
w

ith
 th

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 S
O

R
P

. G
ui

da
nc

e 
is

su
ed

 b
y 

P
en

si
on

s 
R

es
ea

rc
h 

A
dv

is
or

y 
G

ro
up

 (
P

R
A

G
) 

pr
ov

id
es

 a
 fr

am
ew

or
k 

of
 d

ue
 d

ili
ge

nc
e 

fo
r 

pr
ep

ar
er

s 
of

 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

st
at

em
en

ts
  

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

a 
du

e 
di

lig
en

ce
 

qu
es

tio
nn

ai
re

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
P

R
A

G
 fr

am
ew

or
k.

 
It 

ha
s 

us
ed

 th
is

 w
he

n 
co

ns
id

er
in

g 
th

e 
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
. 

9 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
w

it
h

 C
ap

it
al

 D
yn

am
ic

s 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d'
s 

pr
iv

at
e 

eq
ui

ty
 v

al
ua

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
s 

re
lie

s 
on

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
un

de
rt

ak
en

 b
y 

C
ap

ita
l 

D
yn

am
ic

s 
Lt

d 
un

de
r 

an
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
t d

at
in

g 
ba

ck
 to

 1
99

1.
 O

ur
 r

ev
ie

w
 in

 2
00

9/
10

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ac
t 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
th

at
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
 is

 o
ut

 o
f d

at
e 

an
d 

do
es

 n
ot

 s
pe

ci
fy

 th
e 

va
lu

at
io

n 
w

or
k.

 

 

A
 n

ew
 c

on
tr

ac
t w

ith
 C

ap
ita

l D
yn

am
ic

s 
Lt

d 
w

as
 

si
gn

ed
 in

 J
un

e 
20

11
. 

10
 C

o
m

p
en

sa
to

ry
 a

d
d

ed
 y

ea
rs

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d'
s 

re
ce

ip
ts

 a
nd

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 w

er
e 

ov
er

st
at

ed
 b

y 
£1

2m
 in

 2
00

9/
10

 d
ue

 to
 th

e 
in

co
rr

ec
t i

nc
lu

si
on

 o
f c

om
pe

ns
at

or
y 

ad
de

d 
ye

ar
s 

(C
A

Y
s)

. C
A

Y
s 

ar
e 

aw
ar

de
d 

un
de

r 
th

e 
Lo

ca
l 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 2

00
0 

an
d 

th
er

ef
or

e 
fa

ll 
ou

ts
id

e 
of

 th
e 

LG
P

S
. T

he
 L

G
P

S
 (

M
is

c)
 

R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 2
00

9 
no

w
 p

er
m

it 
em

pl
oy

er
s 

to
 c

on
ve

rt
 C

A
Y

s 
in

to
 p

en
si

on
 s

er
vi

ce
, h

ow
ev

er
 th

er
e 

ha
s 

to
 b

e 
a 

re
so

lu
tio

n 
by

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
in

g 
au

th
or

ity
 to

 d
o 

th
is

 c
on

ve
rs

io
n 

by
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

2.
 

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
m

an
ag

er
s 

ha
ve

 c
on

fir
m

ed
 

th
at

 n
o 

em
pl

oy
in

g 
au

th
or

ity
 h

as
 m

ad
e 

a 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

to
 c

on
ve

rt
 C

A
Y

s 
in

to
 p

en
si

on
 

se
rv

ic
e.

 (
I h

av
e 

as
ke

d 
th

at
 m

em
be

rs
 a

ls
o 

co
nf

irm
 th

is
 in

 th
e 

le
tte

r 
of

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n)

. T
he

 
P

en
si

on
 F

un
d 

ha
s 

th
er

ef
or

e 
ex

cl
ud

ed
 C

A
Y

S
 

fr
om

 it
s 

in
co

m
e 

an
d 

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
 in

 2
01

0/
11

. I
t 

ha
s 

al
so

 a
m

en
de

d 
th

e 
co

m
pa

ra
tiv

e 
fig

ur
es

 fo
r 

20
09

/1
0.

  

 

Page 80



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

9
  S

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s 

in
 in

te
rn

al
 c

o
n

tr
o

l

I h
av

e 
n

o
t 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

n
y 

si
g

n
if

ic
an

t 
w

ea
kn

es
se

s 
in

 in
te

rn
al

 c
o

n
tr

o
l  

I o
nl

y 
re

po
rt

 th
os

e 
w

ea
kn

es
se

s 
I i

de
nt

ify
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
co

ur
se

 o
f t

he
 a

ud
it 

th
at

 a
re

 r
el

ev
an

t t
o 

pr
ep

ar
in

g 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
. I

 a
m

 n
ot

 e
xp

re
ss

in
g 

an
 

op
in

io
n 

on
 th

e 
ov

er
al

l e
ffe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

. 

Q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
yo

u
r 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
I c

on
si

de
r 

as
pe

ct
s 

of
 y

ou
r 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
pr

ac
tic

es
, a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
ie

s,
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
es

tim
at

es
 a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 d

is
cl

os
ur

es
.  

I h
av

e 
on

ly
 o

ne
 m

at
te

r 
to

 r
ep

or
t t

o 
yo

u:
 

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 p
ra

ct
ic

es
, p

o
lic

ie
s,

 e
st

im
at

es
 a

n
d

 f
in

an
ci

al
 c

lo
su

re
s 

Is
su

e
F

in
d

in
g

s 
an

d
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s

1.
 D

is
cl

o
su

re
 o

f 
p

o
o

le
d

 a
n

d
 in

te
rn

al
ly

 m
an

ag
ed

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 

T
he

 a
cc

ou
nt

s 
in

iti
al

ly
 d

is
cl

os
ed

 in
te

rn
al

ly
 m

an
ag

ed
 in

ve
st

m
en

t b
al

an
ce

s 
in

 a
gg

re
ga

te
 o

nl
y.

 P
oo

le
d 

in
ve

st
m

en
t 

ve
hi

cl
es

 w
er

e 
al

so
 d

is
cl

os
ed

 in
 a

gg
re

ga
te

 o
nl

y.
 W

hi
ls

t t
hi

s 
di

sc
lo

su
re

 d
oe

s 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 th

e 
S

O
R

P
, i

n 
m

y 
op

in
io

n 
th

is
 d

oe
s 

no
t g

iv
e 

th
e 

re
ad

er
 o

f t
he

 a
cc

ou
nt

s 
ad

eq
ua

te
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

na
tu

re
 o

f t
he

se
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
.  

 

T
he

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
ag

re
ed

 th
at

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
ul

d 
be

 e
nh

an
ce

d 
an

d 
ag

re
ed

 
to

 c
ha

ng
e 

th
e 

di
sc

lo
su

re
 to

 b
e 

m
or

e 
us

ef
ul

 to
 th

e 
us

er
 o

f t
he

 
ac

co
un

ts
. 

 

 L
et

te
r 

o
f 

re
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

B
ef

or
e 

I i
ss

ue
 m

y 
op

in
io

n,
 a

ud
iti

ng
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 r
eq

ui
re

 m
e 

to
 a

sk
 y

ou
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t f
or

 w
rit

te
n 

re
pr

es
en

ta
tio

ns
 a

bo
ut

 y
ou

r 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

. I
 h

av
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 a
 d

ra
ft 

at
 A

pp
en

di
x 

4 
 

Page 81



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

10
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 1

 –
 D

ra
ft

 in
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
au

d
it

o
r’

s 
re

p
o

rt
 t

o
 t

h
e 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
W

ir
ra

l B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
li

O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

p
en

si
o

n
 f

u
n

d
 a

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

I h
av

e 
au

di
te

d 
th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
fu

nd
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 
un

de
r 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 A

ct
 1

99
8.

 T
he

 p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 c

om
pr

is
e 

th
e 

F
un

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
, t

he
 N

et
 A

ss
et

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

re
la

te
d 

no
te

s.
 T

he
se

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
re

pa
re

d 
un

de
r 

th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
P

ol
ic

ie
s.

 
 T

hi
s 

re
po

rt
 is

 m
ad

e 
so

le
ly

 to
 th

e 
m

em
be

rs
 o

f W
irr

al
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 P
ar

t I
I o

f t
he

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 A

ct
 1

99
8 

an
d 

fo
r 

no
 o

th
er

 
pu

rp
os

e,
 a

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 p

ar
ag

ra
ph

 4
8 

of
 th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f R

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s 
of

 A
ud

ito
rs

 a
nd

 A
ud

ite
d 

B
od

ie
s 

pu
bl

is
he

d 
by

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 in

 M
ar

ch
 

20
10

. 
 R

es
p

ec
ti

ve
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 o

f 
th

e 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

F
in

an
ce

 a
n

d
 a

u
d

it
o

r 

A
s 

ex
pl

ai
ne

d 
m

or
e 

fu
lly

 in
 th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f R

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s,

 th
e 

D
ire

ct
or

 o
f F

in
an

ce
 is

 r
es

po
ns

ib
le

 fo
r 

th
e 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

of
 

th
e 

pe
ns

io
n 

fu
nd

’s
 S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 p

ro
pe

r 
pr

ac
tic

es
 a

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 th

e 
C

IP
F

A
/L

A
S

A
A

C
 C

od
e 

of
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

on
 L

oc
al

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

. M
y 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
is

 to
 a

ud
it 

th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 la
w

 a
nd

 In
te

rn
at

io
na

l 
S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 o
n 

A
ud

iti
ng

 (
U

K
 a

nd
 Ir

el
an

d)
. T

ho
se

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 r

eq
ui

re
 m

e 
to

 c
om

pl
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

A
ud

iti
ng

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 B

oa
rd

’s
 E

th
ic

al
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 fo
r 

A
ud

ito
rs

. 

 i F
or

 in
cl

us
io

n 
in

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s 

Page 82



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

11
  S

co
p

e 
o

f 
th

e 
au

d
it

 o
f 

th
e 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

A
n 

au
di

t i
nv

ol
ve

s 
ob

ta
in

in
g 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
bo

ut
 th

e 
am

ou
nt

s 
an

d 
di

sc
lo

su
re

s 
in

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 s
uf

fic
ie

nt
 to

 g
iv

e 
re

as
on

ab
le

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 th

at
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 fr

ee
 fr

om
 m

at
er

ia
l m

is
st

at
em

en
t, 

w
he

th
er

 c
au

se
d 

by
 fr

au
d 

or
 e

rr
or

. T
hi

s 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f: 

w
he

th
er

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
ar

e 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 to
 th

e 
fu

nd
’s

 c
irc

um
st

an
ce

s 
an

d 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

co
ns

is
te

nt
ly

 a
pp

lie
d 

an
d 

ad
eq

ua
te

ly
 d

is
cl

os
ed

; t
he

 r
ea

so
na

bl
en

es
s 

of
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

es
tim

at
es

 m
ad

e 
by

 th
e 

fu
nd

; a
nd

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l p

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
. I

 r
ea

d 
al

l t
he

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
ex

pl
an

at
or

y 
fo

re
w

or
d 

[a
nd

 th
e 

an
nu

al
 r

ep
or

t]i
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

m
at

er
ia

l i
nc

on
si

st
en

ci
es

 w
ith

 th
e 

au
di

te
d 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

. I
f I

 b
ec

om
e 

aw
ar

e 
of

 a
ny

 a
pp

ar
en

t m
at

er
ia

l 
m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 o
r 

in
co

ns
is

te
nc

ie
s 

I c
on

si
de

r 
th

e 
im

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
m

y 
re

po
rt

. 
 O

p
in

io
n

 o
n

 a
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 

In
 m

y 
op

in
io

n 
th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
fu

nd
’s

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
: 

" 
gi

ve
 a

 tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l t

ra
ns

ac
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 
an

d 
th

e 
am

ou
nt

 a
nd

 d
is

po
si

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
fu

nd
’s

 a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
as

 a
t 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1
ot

he
r 

th
an

 li
ab

ili
tie

s 
to

 p
ay

 p
en

si
on

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

be
ne

fit
s 

af
te

r 
th

e 
en

d 
of

 th
e 

sc
he

m
e

ye
ar

 
an

d 
" 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
pr

op
er

ly
 p

re
pa

re
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
C

IP
F

A
/L

A
S

A
A

C
 C

od
e 

of
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

on
 L

oc
al

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

. 
 O

p
in

io
n

 o
n

 o
th

er
 m

at
te

rs
 

In
 m

y 
op

in
io

n,
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
gi

ve
n 

in
 th

e 
ex

pl
an

at
or

y 
fo

re
w

or
d 

[a
nd

 th
e 

co
nt

en
t o

f t
he

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t]i
i  f

or
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r 

fo
r 

w
hi

ch
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 p

re
pa

re
d 

is
 c

on
si

st
en

t w
ith

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

. 
     i I

 w
ill

 in
se

rt
 th

es
e 

w
or

ds
 if

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
no

 m
at

te
rs

 a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 m
y 

re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t. 

ii 
I w

ill
 in

se
rt

 th
es

e 
w

or
ds

 if
 I 

ha
ve

 n
o 

m
at

te
rs

 a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 m
y 

re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t. 

Page 83



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

12
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 1

a 
– 

D
ra

ft
 

in
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
au

d
it

o
r’

s 
re

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

in
cl

u
si

o
n

 in
 P

en
si

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 
A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 
D

ra
ft

 in
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
au

d
it

o
r’

s 
re

p
o

rt
 t

o
 t

h
e 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
W

ir
ra

l B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 

O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

p
en

si
o

n
 f

u
n

d
 a

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

I h
av

e 
au

di
te

d 
th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
fu

nd
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 
un

de
r 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 A

ct
 1

99
8.

 T
he

 p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 c

om
pr

is
e 

th
e 

F
un

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
, t

he
 N

et
 A

ss
et

s 
S

ta
te

m
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

re
la

te
d 

no
te

s.
 T

he
se

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
re

pa
re

d 
un

de
r 

th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
P

ol
ic

ie
s.

 

T
hi

s 
re

po
rt

 is
 m

ad
e 

so
le

ly
 to

 th
e 

m
em

be
rs

 o
f W

irr
al

 B
or

ou
gh

 C
ou

nc
il 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 P

ar
t I

I o
f t

he
 A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 A
ct

 1
99

8 
an

d 
fo

r 
no

 o
th

er
 

pu
rp

os
e,

 a
s 

se
t o

ut
 in

 p
ar

ag
ra

ph
 4

8 
of

 th
e 

S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s 

of
 A

ud
ito

rs
 a

nd
 o

f A
ud

ite
d 

B
od

ie
s 

pu
bl

is
he

d 
by

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 in

 M
ar

ch
 

20
10

. 
 R

es
p

ec
ti

ve
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 o

f 
th

e 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

F
in

an
ce

 a
n

d
 a

u
d

it
o

r 

A
s 

ex
pl

ai
ne

d 
m

or
e 

fu
lly

 in
 th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f R

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s,

 th
e 

D
ire

ct
or

 o
f F

in
an

ce
 is

 r
es

po
ns

ib
le

 fo
r 

th
e 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

of
 

th
e 

pe
ns

io
n 

fu
nd

’s
 S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 p

ro
pe

r 
pr

ac
tic

es
 a

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 th

e 
C

IP
F

A
/L

A
S

A
A

C
 C

od
e 

of
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

on
 L

oc
al

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

. M
y 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
is

 to
 a

ud
it 

th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 la
w

 a
nd

 In
te

rn
at

io
na

l 
S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 o
n 

A
ud

iti
ng

 (
U

K
 a

nd
 Ir

el
an

d)
. T

ho
se

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 r

eq
ui

re
 m

e 
to

 c
om

pl
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

A
ud

iti
ng

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 B

oa
rd

’s
 E

th
ic

al
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 fo
r 

A
ud

ito
rs

.

Page 84



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

13
 S

co
p

e 
o

f 
th

e 
au

d
it

 o
f 

th
e 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

A
n 

au
di

t i
nv

ol
ve

s 
ob

ta
in

in
g 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
bo

ut
 th

e 
am

ou
nt

s 
an

d 
di

sc
lo

su
re

s 
in

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

 s
uf

fic
ie

nt
 to

 g
iv

e 
re

as
on

ab
le

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 th

at
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 fr

ee
 fr

om
 m

at
er

ia
l m

is
st

at
em

en
t, 

w
he

th
er

 c
au

se
d 

by
 fr

au
d 

or
 e

rr
or

. T
hi

s 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f: 

w
he

th
er

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
ar

e 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 to
 th

e 
fu

nd
’s

 c
irc

um
st

an
ce

s 
an

d 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

co
ns

is
te

nt
ly

 a
pp

lie
d 

an
d 

ad
eq

ua
te

ly
 d

is
cl

os
ed

; t
he

 r
ea

so
na

bl
en

es
s 

of
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

es
tim

at
es

 m
ad

e 
by

 th
e 

fu
nd

; a
nd

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l p

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
. I

 r
ea

d 
al

l t
he

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t t

o 
id

en
tif

y 
m

at
er

ia
l i

nc
on

si
st

en
ci

es
 w

ith
 th

e 
au

di
te

d 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
. I

f I
 b

ec
om

e 
aw

ar
e 

of
 a

ny
 a

pp
ar

en
t m

at
er

ia
l m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 o
r 

in
co

ns
is

te
nc

ie
s 

I 
co

ns
id

er
 th

e 
im

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
m

y 
re

po
rt

. 
 O

p
in

io
n

 o
n

 a
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 

In
 m

y 
op

in
io

n 
th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
fu

nd
’s

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
: 

" 
gi

ve
 a

 tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l t

ra
ns

ac
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 p
en

si
on

 fu
nd

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 
an

d 
th

e 
am

ou
nt

 a
nd

 d
is

po
si

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
fu

nd
’s

 a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
as

 a
t 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 
ot

he
r 

th
an

 li
ab

ili
tie

s 
to

 p
ay

 p
en

si
on

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

be
ne

fit
s 

af
te

r 
th

e 
en

d 
of

 th
e 

sc
he

m
e 

ye
ar

; 
an

d 
" 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
pr

op
er

ly
 p

re
pa

re
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
C

IP
F

A
/L

A
S

A
A

C
 C

od
e 

of
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

on
 L

oc
al

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

. 

O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 o

th
er

 m
at

te
rs

 

In
 m

y 
op

in
io

n,
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
gi

ve
n 

in
 th

e 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t f

or
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r 

fo
r 

w
hi

ch
 th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 p

re
pa

re
d 

is
 c

on
si

st
en

t w
ith

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

at
em

en
ts

. 
 M

at
te

rs
 o

n
 w

h
ic

h
 I 

re
p

o
rt

 b
y 

ex
ce

p
ti

o
n

 

I h
av

e 
no

th
in

g 
to

 r
ep

or
t i

n 
re

sp
ec

t o
f t

he
 g

ov
er

na
nc

e 
st

at
em

en
t o

n 
w

hi
ch

 I 
re

po
rt

 to
 y

ou
 if

, i
n 

m
y 

op
in

io
n 

th
e 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 s

ta
te

m
en

t d
oe

s 
no

t r
ef

le
ct

 
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
Lo

ca
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t P
en

si
on

 S
ch

em
e 

(A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n)

 R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 2
00

8 
an

d 
re

la
te

d 
gu

id
an

ce
. 

    

Page 85



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

14
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 2

 –
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
I i

d
en

ti
fi

ed
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 d
u

ri
n

g
 m

y 
au

d
it

 a
n

d
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
h

av
e 

ad
ju

st
ed

 t
h

e 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. I
 b

ri
n

g
 t

h
em

 t
o

yo
u

r 
at

te
n

ti
o

n
 t

o
 a

id
 y

o
u

 in
 f

u
lf

ill
in

g
 y

o
u

r 
g

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
. 

 

F
u

n
d

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

st
at

em
en

t 

A
dj

us
te

d 
m

is
st

at
em

en
t 

N
at

ur
e 

of
 a

dj
us

tm
en

t 
D

r 
£0

00
s 

C
r 

£0
00

s 
D

r 
£0

00
s 

C
r 

£0
00

s 

T
ra

ns
iti

on
al

 IF
R

S
 n

et
 a

ss
et

 
st

at
em

en
t o

m
itt

ed
 

In
cl

ud
e 

ne
t a

ss
et

s 
st

at
em

en
t a

s 
at

  
1 

A
pr

il 
20

09
 

 
 

 
 

M
is

an
al

ys
is

 o
f i

nv
es

tm
en

ts
 

£1
39

m
 in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n 

A
m

un
di

 G
lo

ba
l 

E
m

er
gi

ng
 M

ar
ke

ts
 a

nd
 £

13
4m

 in
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
M

&
G

 G
lo

ba
l E

m
er

gi
ng

 M
ar

ke
ts

 c
at

eg
or

is
ed

 
as

 e
qu

ity
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 p

oo
le

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

 
 

 
 

10
,0

00
 u

ni
ts

 in
 L

’O
re

al
 P

rim
e 

de
 

F
id

el
ité

 o
m

itt
ed

 fr
om

 n
et

 a
ss

et
s 

st
at

em
en

t 

In
cr

ea
se

 v
al

ue
 o

f i
nv

es
tm

en
ts

 in
 n

et
 a

ss
et

s 
st

at
em

en
t a

nd
 in

cr
ea

se
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 m
ar

ke
t 

va
lu

e 
of

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 fu

nd
s 

ac
co

un
t 

 
72

8 
72

8 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Page 86



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

15
 

F
u

n
d

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

st
at

em
en

t 

O
th

er
 d

is
cl

os
ur

e 
er

ro
rs

 
!

 
a 

sm
al

l n
um

be
r 

of
 ty

po
gr

ap
hi

c 
er

ro
rs

 a
nd

 
m

is
-c

as
tin

gs
  

 !
 

gr
os

s 
up

 £
4m

 F
or

w
ar

d 
E

ur
o 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
an

d 
£4

m
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

in
 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 d
is

cl
os

ur
e 

no
te

 
 !

 
£0

.5
m

 tr
an

si
tio

na
l f

un
d 

m
an

ag
er

 b
al

an
ce

 
ca

te
go

ris
ed

 a
s 

eq
ui

ty
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 c

as
h 

 !
 

T
he

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 n

ot
e 

do
es

 n
ot

 d
is

cl
os

e 
th

at
 a

n 
el

em
en

t o
f r

eg
ul

ar
 e

m
pl

oy
er

 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
 r

ep
re

se
nt

s 
de

fic
it 

fu
nd

in
g 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 87



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

16
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 3

 –
 L

et
te

r 
o

f 
re

p
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

M
er

se
ys

id
e 

P
en

si
o

n
 F

u
n

d
 -

 A
u

d
it

 f
o

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 e

n
d

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1 

I c
on

fir
m

 to
 th

e 
be

st
 o

f m
y 

kn
ow

le
dg

e 
an

d 
be

lie
f, 

ha
vi

ng
 m

ad
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 e

nq
ui

rie
s 

of
 o

th
er

 d
ire

ct
or

s 
an

d 
of

fic
er

s 
of

 th
e 

M
er

se
ys

id
e 

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
(t

he
 F

un
d)

, t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
re

pr
es

en
ta

tio
ns

 g
iv

en
 to

 y
ou

 in
 c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
w

ith
 y

ou
r 

au
di

t o
f t

he
 F

un
d’

s 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

20
11

.  

C
o

m
p

lia
n

ce
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
st

at
u

to
ry

 a
u

th
o

ri
ti

es
 

I h
av

e 
fu

lfi
lle

d 
m

y 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y 

un
de

r 
th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 a
ut

ho
rit

ie
s 

fo
r 

pr
ep

ar
in

g 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l A

ut
ho

rit
y 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

in
 th

e 
U

ni
te

d 
K

in
gd

om
 w

hi
ch

 g
iv

e 
a 

tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
iti

on
 a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 o

f t
he

 F
un

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
co

m
pl

et
en

es
s 

of
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
pr

ov
id

ed
 to

 y
ou

, a
nd

 fo
r 

m
ak

in
g 

ac
cu

ra
te

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
ns

 to
 y

ou
. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
ec

o
rd

s 

A
ll 

re
le

va
nt

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 p
er

so
ns

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
en

tit
y 

ha
s 

be
en

 m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 y

ou
 fo

r 
th

e 
pu

rp
os

e 
of

 y
ou

r 
au

di
t, 

an
d 

al
l t

he
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 b

y 
th

e 
F

un
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
pr

op
er

ly
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 a
nd

 r
ec

or
de

d 
in

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

.  

Ir
re

g
u

la
ri

ti
es

I a
ck

no
w

le
dg

e 
m

y 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

de
si

gn
, i

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

f i
nt

er
na

l c
on

tr
ol

 to
 p

re
ve

nt
 a

nd
 d

et
ec

t f
ra

ud
 o

r 
er

ro
r.

 

I a
ls

o 
co

nf
irm

 th
at

 I 
ha

ve
 d

is
cl

os
ed

: 
!

 
m

y 
kn

ow
le

dg
e 

of
 fr

au
d,

 o
r 

su
sp

ec
te

d 
fr

au
d,

 in
vo

lv
in

g 
ei

th
er

 m
an

ag
em

en
t, 

em
pl

oy
ee

s 
w

ho
 h

av
e 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 r

ol
es

 in
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 o

r 
ot

he
rs

 w
he

re
 

fr
au

d 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 a
 m

at
er

ia
l e

ffe
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

;  
!

 
m

y 
kn

ow
le

dg
e 

of
 a

ny
 a

lle
ga

tio
ns

 o
f f

ra
ud

, o
r 

su
sp

ec
te

d 
fr

au
d,

 a
ffe

ct
in

g 
th

e 
en

tit
y’

s 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
ed

 b
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

s,
 fo

rm
er

 
em

pl
oy

ee
s,

 a
na

ly
st

s,
 r

eg
ul

at
or

s 
or

 o
th

er
s;

 a
nd

 
!

 
th

e 
re

su
lts

 o
f o

ur
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t o
f t

he
 r

is
k 

th
at

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 m
ay

 b
e 

m
at

er
ia

lly
 m

is
st

at
ed

 a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

of
 fr

au
d.

 

Page 88



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

17
 L

aw
, r

eg
u

la
ti

o
n

s,
 c

o
n

tr
ac

tu
al

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 a

n
d

 c
o

d
es

 o
f 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 

I h
av

e 
di

sc
lo

se
d 

to
 y

ou
 a

ll 
kn

ow
n 

in
st

an
ce

s 
of

 n
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e,

 o
r 

su
sp

ec
te

d 
no

n-
co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 la

w
s,

 r
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 c
od

es
 o

f p
ra

ct
ic

e,
 w

ho
se

 
ef

fe
ct

s 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 w

he
n 

pr
ep

ar
in

g 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
. 

T
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 a
nd

 e
ve

nt
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
ou

t i
n 

ac
co

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 la

w
, r

eg
ul

at
io

n 
or

 o
th

er
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

  T
he

 F
un

d 
ha

s 
co

m
pl

ie
d 

w
ith

 a
ll 

as
pe

ct
s 

of
 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 th
at

 c
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

a 
m

at
er

ia
l e

ffe
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
ev

en
t o

f n
on

-c
om

pl
ia

nc
e.

   

A
ll 

kn
ow

n 
ac

tu
al

 o
r 

po
ss

ib
le

 li
tig

at
io

n 
an

d 
cl

ai
m

s,
 w

ho
se

 e
ffe

ct
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 w
he

n 
pr

ep
ar

in
g 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, h
av

e 
be

en
 d

is
cl

os
ed

 to
 

th
e 

au
di

to
r 

an
d 

ac
co

un
te

d 
fo

r 
an

d 
di

sc
lo

se
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 fi
na

nc
ia

l r
ep

or
tin

g 
fr

am
ew

or
k.

 

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 e
st

im
at

es
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 f

ai
r 

va
lu

es
 

I c
on

fir
m

 th
e 

re
as

on
ab

le
ne

ss
 o

f t
he

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 u

se
d 

in
 m

ak
in

g 
th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

es
tim

at
es

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 th

os
e 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 fa
ir 

va
lu

e.
  

R
el

at
ed

 p
ar

ty
 t

ra
n

sa
ct

io
n

s 

I c
on

fir
m

 th
at

 I 
ha

ve
 d

is
cl

os
ed

 th
e 

id
en

tit
y 

of
 th

e 
F

un
d’

s 
re

la
te

d 
pa

rt
ie

s 
an

d 
al

l t
he

 r
el

at
ed

 p
ar

ty
 r

el
at

io
ns

hi
ps

 a
nd

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 o
f w

hi
ch

 I 
am

 a
w

ar
e.

 I 
ha

ve
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 a
cc

ou
nt

ed
 fo

r 
an

d 
di

sc
lo

se
d 

su
ch

 r
el

at
io

ns
hi

ps
 a

nd
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t o

f t
he

 fr
am

ew
or

k.
 

C
o

m
p

en
sa

to
ry

 a
d

d
ed

 y
ea

rs
 (

C
A

Y
s)

  

N
o 

em
pl

oy
in

g 
au

th
or

ity
 h

as
 m

ad
e 

a 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

to
 c

on
ve

rt
 C

A
Y

s 
in

to
 p

en
si

on
 s

er
vi

ce
.

S
u

b
se

q
u

en
t 

ev
en

ts

A
ll 

ev
en

ts
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t t
o 

th
e 

da
te

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, w

hi
ch

 w
ou

ld
 r

eq
ui

re
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 a
dj

us
tm

en
t o

r 
di

sc
lo

su
re

 in
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, h

av
e 

be
en

 a
dj

us
te

d 
or

 d
is

cl
os

ed
. 

Page 89



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

18
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 4

 –
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

 

P
ag

e
n

o
. 

3. T
o

p
ic

 R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

4.
 T

o
p

ic
  

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

1 
= 

L
o

w
 

2 
= 

M
ed

 
   

 3
 =

 H
ig

h
 

5.
 T

o
p

ic
 

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 

 

A
g

re
ed

 
C

o
m

m
en

ts
 

D
at

e
 

6 
E

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 a

ny
 c

ha
ng

es
 to

 th
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
t l

ed
ge

r 
af

te
r 

it 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

ec
on

ci
le

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
ge

ne
ra

l 
le

dg
er

 a
re

 a
ls

o 
re

fle
ct

ed
 in

 th
e 

ac
co

un
ts

. 

3 
G

ro
up

 
A

cc
ou

nt
an

t 
Y

es
 

A
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
flo

w
s 

ha
s 

al
re

ad
y 

be
gu

n.
 

Ju
ne

 
20

12
 

6 
R

ev
ie

w
 th

e 
la

te
st

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 u
nq

uo
te

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f a
 fo

rm
al

 
pr

oc
es

s 
co

ns
id

er
in

g 
po

te
nt

ia
l 

ad
ju

st
in

g 
po

st
 b

al
an

ce
 s

he
et

 
ev

en
ts

 b
et

w
ee

n 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
an

d 
m

em
be

rs
' a

pp
ro

va
l o

f t
he

 
ac

co
un

ts
. 

3 
G

ro
up

 
A

cc
ou

nt
an

t 
Y

es
 

 
S

ep
t 

20
12

 

Page 90



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

19
 A

p
p

en
d

ix
 5

 –
 G

lo
ss

ar
y 

A
n

n
u

al
 g

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 s

ta
te

m
en

t

A
 s

ta
te

m
en

t o
f i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
 p

re
pa

re
d 

by
 a

n 
au

di
te

d 
bo

dy
 a

nd
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. 

A
u

d
it

 o
p

in
io

n
  

O
n 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 th

e 
au

di
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, I
 m

us
t g

iv
e 

m
y 

op
in

io
n 

on
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

:  
!

 
w

he
th

er
 th

ey
 g

iv
e 

a 
tr

ue
 a

nd
 fa

ir 
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
os

iti
on

 o
f t

he
 a

ud
ite

d 
bo

dy
 a

nd
 it

s 
sp

en
di

ng
 a

nd
 in

co
m

e 
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 in

 q
ue

st
io

n;
 a

nd
  

!
 

w
he

th
er

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
be

en
 p

re
pa

re
d 

pr
op

er
ly

, f
ol

lo
w

in
g 

th
e 

re
le

va
nt

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

ru
le

s.
   

O
p

in
io

n
 

If 
I a

gr
ee

 th
at

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 g
iv

e 
a 

tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

, I
 is

su
e 

an
 u

nq
ua

lif
ie

d 
op

in
io

n.
 I 

is
su

e 
a 

qu
al

ifi
ed

 o
pi

ni
on

 if
: 

!
 

I f
in

d 
th

e 
st

at
em

en
ts

 d
o 

no
t g

iv
e 

a 
tr

ue
 a

nd
 fa

ir 
vi

ew
; o

r 
!

 
I c

an
no

t c
on

fir
m

 th
at

 th
e 

st
at

em
en

ts
 g

iv
e 

a 
tr

ue
 a

nd
 fa

ir 
vi

ew
. 

M
at

er
ia

lit
y 

an
d

 s
ig

n
if

ic
an

ce
 

T
he

 A
ud

iti
ng

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 B

oa
rd

 (
A

P
B

) 
de

fin
es

 th
is

 c
on

ce
pt

 a
s 

‘a
n 

ex
pr

es
si

on
 o

f t
he

 r
el

at
iv

e 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nc

e 
or

 im
po

rt
an

ce
 o

f a
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 m
at

te
r 

fo
r 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
s 

a 
w

ho
le

. A
 m

at
te

r 
is

 m
at

er
ia

l i
f i

ts
 o

m
is

si
on

 w
ou

ld
 r

ea
so

na
bl

y 
in

flu
en

ce
 u

se
rs

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, s

uc
h 

as
 th

e 
ad

dr
es

se
es

 o
f t

he
 a

ud
ito

r’s
 r

ep
or

t; 
al

so
 a

 m
is

st
at

em
en

t i
s 

m
at

er
ia

l i
f i

t w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

a 
si

m
ila

r 
in

flu
en

ce
. M

at
er

ia
lit

y 
m

ay
 a

ls
o 

be
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
fo

r 
an

y 
in

di
vi

du
al

 p
rim

ar
y 

st
at

em
en

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 o

r 
of

 in
di

vi
du

al
 it

em
s 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

em
. W

e 
ca

nn
ot

 d
ef

in
e 

m
at

er
ia

lit
y 

m
at

he
m

at
ic

al
ly

, a
s 

it 
ha

s 
bo

th
 n

um
er

ic
al

 a
nd

 n
on

-n
um

er
ic

al
 a

sp
ec

ts
’. 

 

T
he

 te
rm

 ‘m
at

er
ia

lit
y’

 a
pp

lie
s 

on
ly

 to
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
. A

ud
ito

rs
 a

pp
oi

nt
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 h
av

e 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
an

d 
du

tie
s 

un
de

r 
st

at
ut

e,
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
th

ei
r 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
to

 g
iv

e 
an

 o
pi

ni
on

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, w
hi

ch
 d

o 
no

t n
ec

es
sa

ril
y 

af
fe

ct
 th

ei
r 

op
in

io
n 

on
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.  

‘S
ig

ni
fic

an
ce

’ a
pp

lie
s 

to
 th

es
e 

w
id

er
 r

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s 
an

d 
au

di
to

rs
 a

do
pt

 a
 le

ve
l o

f s
ig

ni
fic

an
ce

 th
at

 m
ay

 d
iff

er
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

at
er

ia
lit

y 
le

ve
l a

pp
lie

d 
to

 th
ei

r 
au

di
t i

n 
re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. S
ig

ni
fic

an
ce

 h
as

 b
ot

h 
qu

al
ita

tiv
e 

an
d 

qu
an

tit
at

iv
e 

as
pe

ct
s.

  

 

Page 91



 A
u

d
it

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 
A

nn
ua

l g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

re
po

rt
 

20
 W

ea
kn

es
se

s 
in

 in
te

rn
al

 c
o

n
tr

o
l 

A
 w

ea
kn

es
s 

in
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 e

xi
st

s 
w

he
n:

  
!

 
a 

co
nt

ro
l i

s 
de

si
gn

ed
, s

et
 u

p 
or

 u
se

d 
in

 s
uc

h 
a 

w
ay

 th
at

 it
 is

 u
na

bl
e 

to
 p

re
ve

nt
, o

r 
de

te
ct

 a
nd

 c
or

re
ct

, m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
qu

ic
kl

y;
 o

r 
 

!
 

a 
co

nt
ro

l n
ec

es
sa

ry
 to

 p
re

ve
nt

, o
r 

de
te

ct
 a

nd
 c

or
re

ct
, m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 q

ui
ck

ly
 is

 m
is

si
ng

.  

A
n 

im
po

rt
an

t w
ea

kn
es

s 
in

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 is
 a

 w
ea

kn
es

s,
 o

r 
a 

co
m

bi
na

tio
n 

of
 w

ea
kn

es
se

s 
th

at
, i

n 
m

y 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 ju

dg
em

en
t, 

ar
e 

im
po

rt
an

t e
no

ug
h 

th
at

 I 
sh

ou
ld

 r
ep

or
t t

he
m

 to
 y

ou
. 

 

Page 92



  If 
yo

u 
re

qu
ire

 a
 c

op
y 

of
 th

is
 d

oc
um

en
t i

n 
an

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

fo
rm

at
 o

r 
in

 a
 la

ng
ua

ge
 o

th
er

 th
an

 E
ng

lis
h,

 p
le

as
e 

ca
ll:

  
08

44
 7

98
 7

07
0 

©
 A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 2
01

1.
 

D
es

ig
n 

an
d 

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
by

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 P

ub
lis

hi
ng

 T
ea

m
. 

Im
ag

e 
co

py
rig

ht
 ©

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
. 

 T
he

 S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s 

of
 A

ud
ito

rs
 a

nd
 A

ud
ite

d 
B

od
ie

s 
is

su
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 e

xp
la

in
s 

th
e 

re
sp

ec
tiv

e 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
of

 a
ud

ito
rs

 
an

d 
of

 th
e 

au
di

te
d 

bo
dy

. R
ep

or
ts

 p
re

pa
re

d 
by

 a
pp

oi
nt

ed
 a

ud
ito

rs
 a

re
 a

dd
re

ss
ed

 to
 n

on
-e

xe
cu

tiv
e 

di
re

ct
or

s,
 m

em
be

rs
 o

r 
of

fic
er

s.
 T

he
y 

ar
e 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r 

th
e 

so
le

 u
se

 o
f t

he
 a

ud
ite

d 
bo

dy
. A

ud
ito

rs
 a

cc
ep

t n
o 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
to

: 
!

 
an

y 
di

re
ct

or
/m

em
be

r 
or

 o
ffi

ce
r 

in
 th

ei
r 

in
di

vi
du

al
 c

ap
ac

ity
; o

r 
 

!
 

an
y 

th
ird

 p
ar

ty
.  

           

 
 w

w
w

.a
u

d
it

-c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

.g
o

v.
u

k 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 2

01
1 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

Page 95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING PARTY MINUTES 12 OCTOBER 2011
	4 LGPS UPDATE
	Report2
	Report3

	5 SECURITIES LENDING
	Appendix

	6 INVESTMENT MONITORING WORKING PARTY OPERATION
	7 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE REPORT
	Supplement
	Report2

	9 IMWP MINUTES APPENDIX

